

For whose benefit?

A different perspective on Tax Inspectors Without Borders

By Hernán Cortés Saenz and Tove Maria Ryding • October 2016



Contents

List of acronyms	3
Executive summary	4
Introduction	6
Capacity development and technical assistance in developing countries	8
The debate on capacity development and technical assistance on tax	9
International principles for aid effectiveness and taxation	11
Tax Inspectors Without Borders	12
TIWB pilot projects	17
The UK-Rwanda TWIB pilot project	18
The Netherlands-Ghana TWIB pilot project	25
The France-Senegal TWIB pilot project	30
Final comments, conclusion and recommendations	35
Endnotes	42

List of acronyms

ATAF	African Tax Administration Forum
BEPS	Base Erosion and Profit Shifting
CIAT	Inter American Center of Tax Administrations
DFID	Department for International Development (UK
	Government)
DGFIP	Direction Générale des Finance Publiques
	(French Government)
EU	European Union
EOI	Exchange of Information
FDI	Foreign direct investment
FfD	Financing for Development
–	-
GATJ	Global Alliance for Tax Justice
GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale
	Zusammenarbeit (German Development Agency)
GPEDC	Global Partnership for Economic Development
	Co-operation
G20	Group of Twenty (international forum)
GRA	Ghana Revenue Authority
HMRC	Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs (UK
	Government)
ICAI	Independent Commission for Aid Impact
ICIJ	International Consortium of Investigative
	Journalists
IMF	International Monetary Fund
iFUSE	Investment Facility for Utilising Specialist
002	Expertise
KRA	Kenya Revenue Authority
MAEDI	Ministère des Affaires Étrangères et du
MALDI	•
	Développement International (French
М-Г	Government)
MoF	Ministry of Finance
MNCs	Multinational corporations
NL	The Netherlands
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
	Development
PwC	PricewaterhouseCoopers
RRA	Rwanda Revenue Authority
TIWB	Tax Inspectors Without Borders
TJN	Tax Justice Network
ToR	Terms of reference
TP	Transfer Pricing
UN	United Nations
UNCTD	United Nations Conference on Trade
	and Development
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNTC	United Nations Committee of Experts on
01110	International Cooperation in Tax Matters (UN
	Tax Committee)
US	United States of America
WB	
	World Bank
XOF	West African CFA Franc

Executive summary

Taxation of multinational corporations is of utmost importance to developing countries, which on average generate around 10% of government revenues from this source. However, there are clear indications that the current international system is not working. One type of tax avoidance alone is currently costing developing countries between \$70 billion and \$120 billion per year. While often considered highly immoral, such international tax avoidance is often, technically speaking, legal.

One of the solutions proposed to developing countries to increase their capacity to collect taxes from MNCs' activities in their territory is the offer of 'capacity development' and 'technical assistance' on taxation. While there is broad agreement that this is important and urgent, questions arise about how capacity development and technical assistance should be carried out. In particular, the importance of respecting the principles of aid effectiveness and avoiding conflicts of interest between the providers and recipients are central issues.

The Tax Inspectors Without Borders (TWIB) initiative was launched in 2013 as a pilot project by the Organisation for Economic Development and Cooperation (OECD) – also known as the 'Rich Countries' Club'. In 2015, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) joined the initiative, which is now jointly managed by the OECD and UNDP. One of the special features of the initiative is that it entails a deployment of foreign experts directly into the tax administrations of developing countries – an area that is highly sensitive.

However, the outcome of the TIWB pilot phase has not been thoroughly analysed or discussed, and while the initiative has been widely communicated through the media, the amount of publicly available information about the actual content and experiences of TIWB is extremely limited.

This report looks at the current design of TIWB, as well as three TIWB pilots which have taken place between the UK and Rwanda; the Netherlands and Ghana; and France and Senegal, respectively. It looks at official information available about TIWB and draws on interviews with experts. However, since it has not been possible to access detailed information about the TIWB pilot phase through public sources, this report has also drawn on internal unpublished OECD documents, with the aim of shedding new light on the issue.

The main findings are as follows:

- The internal OECD documents on the TIWB deployments indicate that neither Rwanda, Ghana nor Senegal were leading the processes when the TIWB pilot projects in their countries were initiated. For example, it is mentioned that the UK was "in the lead during the whole process" and that Rwanda had a "low level of comprehension' of the TIWB concept. Similarly, it is said that the Netherlands was "in the lead", that 'Ghana had a passive role in the process', and that there was 'no involvement' of Senegal in the drafting of terms of reference for the France-Senegal project. This not only seems to be contrary to the aid effectiveness principle on developing country ownership and leadership, it also indicates a clear contradiction to one of the main characteristics of the initiative as stated in the TIWB Toolkit.
- Serious conflicts of interest seem to have occurred, and there is a clear risk of further conflicts. In the case of the UK and Rwanda, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC), a company which provides advice to multinational corporations on their tax planning, played a central management role in the pilot project. Furthermore, in all three cases, the donor countries - which are in these cases also providing experts to be deployed into the tax administrations of the recipient countries - have substantial corporate interests in the recipient country.
- Despite a number of changes having occurred since the pilot phase, today the TIWB still does not seem to have a clear mechanism for avoiding similar problems in the future.
- Only very limited information is publicly available about the TIWB process itself and the design of the projects, deployments, actors involved and funding. This is despite the fact that taxation is a highly political issue in which the public has a strong interest.

Recommendations

Building on these conclusions, this report makes the following recommendations regarding TIWB:

- Leadership and ownership of developing countries
 must be ensured. Developing country leadership must
 start at the project identification and development stage,
 and prevail until the end of the project, including when
 drawing conclusions about the outcome of the project.
- 2. Conflicts of interest must be avoided. Current or former employees of governments with a high amount of harmful tax practices and/or substantial corporate interests in the developing countries receiving the assistance have a high risk of conflicts of interest. So do MNCs that have a direct financial interest in tax matters of the recipient country, as well as international tax advisors that have MNCs as clients. While these actors and experts can provide input and views for the process, the TIWB projects must be managed and implemented by institutions and individuals who are free of conflicts of interest. A clear mechanism to identify and analyse risks of conflicts of interest would be a first important step in this process.
- 3. TIWB must have a clear mechanism to ensure that basic principles are respected. This is a necessity to ensure the TIWB projects match the principles on issues such as developing country leadership and avoiding conflicts of interest. This mechanism must apply to both the TIWB projects where the TIWB Secretariat is directly involved, as well as the other projects included in the initiative (including so-called 'TIWB-style projects').
- 4. TIWB should be managed by a neutral international secretariat. The recipient countries must be the drivers and the international secretariat must be located in a neutral, open and inclusive body where all countries participate on an equal footing. The most obvious solution is to make the TIWB initiative fully managed by the UN.
- 5. South-South cooperation must be strengthened. This should include, but not be limited to, increased possibilities of using developing country experts for capacity development and technical assistance in other developing countries. Regional co-operation should be reinforced and available to all developing countries who want to pursue it as a way to build their capacity, as well as to strengthen their internal co-operation on tax matters.

- 6. The matching of experts and recipient country should be based on recipient country demand and happen through a neutral international coordinating body, or through regional coordination mechanisms. Developing countries must be able to select the experts they would like to work with, even in cases where this expert might not be included in the 'pool of experts' offered by the TIWB Secretariat. TIWB donors should not be approaching potential recipient countries directly, and support for TIWB should never be tied to conditions about which experts to deploy. The international Secretariat must be neutral and able provide support to developing and developed countries alike.
- 7. Deployment of foreigners into developing country tax administrations should not be a default option. Deployment of foreign experts into the tax administrations will not always be the best and most suitable solution, and other approaches should also be considered. Furthermore, the value and possibilities for applying resources to hire and maintain qualified staff in developing country tax administrations should always be considered. Tax Inspectors Without Borders should also include options for developing country tax administrations to travel to developed country tax administrations to gain knowledge and access to information which can increase their ability to ensure that MNCs pay a fair share of taxes in their countries.
- 8. Proposals for changes in the tax systems of developing countries (including tax administration) must fully respect democratic processes, be transparent and subject to public debate. It is important that changes to developing country tax systems (including tax administration) are not simply considered an unpolitical technical matter that can be decided in a confidential agreement between a donor and a recipient country government. Parliamentarians, journalists and stakeholders must be able to follow every step of the process. In order to ensure this, it is important that the public is provided with up-to-date and specific information about each project, its origin, its objectives, key elements, implementation plan, its outcome and the role of each of the actors involved in the project. Through independent evaluations with public summaries, the results of TIWB projects can become an important part of the public debate and ensure accountability.
- 9. Capacity development and technical assistance on tax matters cannot stand alone. Direct tax assistance to developing countries must be supplemented by reform of the global tax rules and governance system. Developing countries must have a seat at the table when global tax standards and rules are negotiated, in order to ensure that their interests and concerns are fully represented, and that the global tax system works for all countries. Therefore, an intergovernmental body on tax matters should be established under the UN.

Introduction

Global tax standards and developing countries

Global tax standards address issues such as taxation of multinational corporations (MNCs), international cooperation, exchange of information and division of taxing rights between governments. These issues are of utmost importance for developing countries and their ability to mobilise financing for development. For example, taxes paid by corporations account for 47 per cent of total government revenue of developing countries, of which 23 per cent is from foreign MNCs (equating to around 10% of government revenues).1 Therefore, the capacity to collect taxes linked to the activities of MNCs in these countries is significant. There are, however, clear indications that the current international system is not working. The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) has estimated that one type of international corporate tax avoidance alone is costing developing countries between \$70 billion and \$120 billion per year.² While often considered highly immoral, such international tax avoidance is often, technically speaking, legal.

For the past 50 years, the Organisation for Economic Development and Cooperation (OECD) – also known as the 'Rich Countries' Club' – has been the key decision-maker for international tax standards, including in the area of taxation of MNCs.³ In more recent years, selected developing countries, and in particular those that are members of the Group of 20 (G20), have been included in the decision-making while the vast majority of the world's developing countries have remained excluded.⁴

In July 2015, as the world's governments gathered for the Third Financing for Development (FfD) Conference in Addis Ababa, one of the last outstanding issues in the negotiations was a demand from developing countries to get a seat at the table when global tax standards are decided.⁵ This would in reality mean that global standard setting should take place at the United Nations (UN), where all countries have a seat at the table, rather than at the OECD. In the end, due to strong resistance from OECD member states, the proposal was rejected.⁶

In parallel, during the FfD conference, a group of over 30 developed and developing countries joined a new partnership called the Addis Tax Initiative. Among other things, this initiative aims to substantially increase the support for capacity development and technical assistance on tax matters.⁷

"Developing countries have demanded a seat at the table because they recognise that the current global tax system is causing a devastating bleeding of resources from the world's poorest countries. When the rich countries rejected this request, they rejected global democracy and the chance to establish true international cooperation in tax matters. I find it unacceptable that they offer capacity development for developing countries as an alternative. It's a paternalist approach which reduces the role of developing countries in reforming international tax rules to that of trainees to be drilled to implement rules and principles agreed by the rich countries."

Dereje Alemayehu

Chair of the Global Alliance for Tax Justice (GATJ)

A few months after the FfD conference, the OECD and G20 finalised two years of negotiations and adopted almost 2,000 pages of new international standards for international taxation under what is known as the Action Plan on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS).8 The BEPS package builds on an international OECD transfer pricing system, which has received a lot of criticism. For example, ActionAid has highlighted that the system is "open to abuse and heavily demanding on the resources of national tax authorities in poorer countries." 9

Throughout the BEPS negotiations, more than 100 countries were once again excluded from the decision-making process.¹⁰ However, after the adoption of the BEPS outcome, the OECD announced that all developing countries would now be invited to join the implementation of the BEPS decisions, through a so-called 'Inclusive Framework'. As a condition for joining the framework, the developing countries will have to commit to following the decisions that have already been made. If developing countries decide to join, they can be invited to participate in further elaboration of BEPS.¹¹ A similar approach was taken by the OECD a few years ago, when the international standards on exchange of tax information were developed. While the standards themselves were negotiated and agreed in a closed forum, all countries were invited to follow the standards and join a body known as the Global Forum, which will ensure that countries comply with the standards. 12 The establishment of these international 'implementation bodies' does not change the fact that there is still no international body where all developing countries can participate on an equal footing in the agenda setting and negotiation of international tax standards.

Technical assistance and capacity development

The issues of technical assistance and capacity development for developing countries on taxation have received a great deal of attention over recent years. Developing countries, donor countries and international institutions, as well as forums such as the G20 and the OECD, have identified the strengthening of developing countries' capacity to collect taxes as a priority.¹³

However, as current efforts to provide technical assistance and develop the capacity of developing countries' tax administrations so they can tax MNCs are unfolding, serious questions are starting to surface. This includes questions about the development impact of the advice that developing countries are being given, and about the tensions between the interests of the countries and organisations giving the advice and the interests of the developing countries receiving it. At the root of this discussion is recognition that the taxation of MNCs is an inherently political issue that cannot be dealt with solely as a technical problem to be solved by experts. Additional questions relate to the fact that some of the partner countries offering to help developing countries to design and administer their tax systems can have conflicts of interest. This can occur, for example, when a partner country is also home country to some of the MNCs that the developing countries are trying to tax, or is engaged in so-called 'tax competition', whereby governments compete with each other in providing tax advantages to MNCs in order to attract investments.

This report will dig deeper into these issues, while focusing on the initiative known as Tax Inspectors Without Borders (TIWB) and some of its pilot projects. TIWB was launched as a pilot project by the OECD in 2013 and is an initiative that, in the words of the OECD, complements and "consolidates the impact of [other capacity development] programmes", 14 such as programmes focused on introducing or changing transfer pricing laws in developing countries. 15

The TIWB initiative has received international recognition over the last few years. Both the 2013 G20 and G8 final declarations supported it, stating (respectively), "we welcome the OECD Tax Inspectors Without Borders" ¹⁶ and "we will take practical steps to support this initiative, including by making tax experts available." ¹⁷ Also, the Mbeki High Level Panel report on Illicit Financial Flows from Africa, adopted by 54 Heads of State through the African Union, referred to TIWB as "a very good example of how developed countries can help African countries overcome capacity constraints." ¹⁸

During the Third Financing for Development conference in Addis Ababa, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) joined forces with the OECD to support TIWB. As Helen Clark – the Administrator of UNDP – stated, "[UNDP] is pleased to join OECD to take TIWB to scale. There is strong demand from tax administrations in developing countries for practical assistance like this. Our joint programme (...) aims to meet this demand, building on the success of the pilot phase." 19

The fact that TIWB is now getting scaled up makes it even more important to look at the outcome of the TIWB pilot phase. Unfortunately, while the existence of this initiative has been widely communicated through the media, the amount of publicly available information about the actual content of, and experiences with, TIWB is extremely limited. In particular, it has not been possible to access detailed information about the TIWB pilot phase through public sources. Therefore this report has drawn on internal unpublished OECD documents as well as interviews with experts from governments, international institutions and civil society organisations. The aim is to shed new light on the emerging discussion about initiatives such as TIWB and the role they play for developing countries trying to mobilise tax income to fund their futures.

Capacity development and technical assistance in developing countries

Capacity development, sometimes referred to as capacity building, is described by the OECD as "the process by which people, organisations and society as a whole initiate, strengthen, create, adapt and maintain capacity over time". Technical assistance is described as "activities designed to increase the capacity of developing countries." 20

Specifically looking at taxation, the United Nations Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters, also known as the UN's Tax Committee (UNTC), distinguishes between seven substantive areas of capacity development and technical assistance on tax issues:²¹

- 1. Tax policy: adopt best practices in application of economic concepts to taxation.
- 2. Tax administration strategy: adopt best practices in organising the process of administering, collecting and enforcing the tax laws.
- 3. **Legal drafting:** provide drafting assistance to the governmental body that translates policy into legal text.
- **4. Tax administration implementation:** implementation of tax administration strategies.
- Training and knowledge management: training for tax authorities to adopt tax policy measures and develop technical skills.
- **6. Judicial reform:** provide policy and legal advice to actors who resolve tax disputes.
- Private sector development: improve the investment environment.

In addition to the OECD and UNDP, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank Group (WB) are also significant actors within the area of capacity development and technical assistance in developing countries. However, they are by no means the only actors in this area. The type of actors providing capacity development and technical assistance in taxation is vast, and varies greatly, but the UNTC classifies them as follows: 23

- · International and regional agencies
- International financial institutions
- Regional development banks
- Bilateral aid agencies
- Tax administration networks
- Training institutes
- Non-governmental organisations and journalists²⁴

The territorial range of capacity development and technical assistance on taxation covers almost all developing countries, and can include more than two or three donors involved in the same country. This could generate some cases of duplication of effort and lack of coordination among actors, as the German Development Agency (GIZ) points out.²⁵ As an example, in 2010, the study by the GIZ *Mapping Survey: Taxation and Development* found that donors were providing some kind of tax assistance in more than 100 countries worldwide.²⁶

The debate on capacity development and technical assistance on tax

"Capacity is understood as the ability of people, organisations and society as a whole to manage their affairs successfully."

OECD 27

Capacity development and technical assistance on taxation has been a component of the development agenda for many years. The issue is also a topic of ongoing discussions and various debates among a range of actors involved in development.

Magdalena Sepúlveda, former **UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights**, recommends that "[States should] provide, when in a position and requested to do so, funding and technical assistance to strengthen the capacity of tax authorities in less developed countries to collect taxes and to adhere to international agreements that benefit them." ²⁸

The **UN Secretary General** affirmed in the Synthesis Report of the Secretary General on the Post-2015 Agenda that "provisions should be made to increase funding to facilitate capacities to implement tax reforms, thus improving domestic resource mobilization." ²⁹

The **G20** stated in 2013 that "Developing countries should be able to reap the benefits of a more transparent international tax system, and to enhance their revenue capacity, as mobilizing domestic resources is critical to financing development (...) [G20 members] will seek to provide capacity building support to them [developing countries]." 30

The **IMF** has highlighted that "there are emerging concerns and issues requiring greater attention. Challenges in international taxation and from regional integration are intensifying, and call for close cooperation on tax matters – including with advanced economies – in both policy and administration, as well as further support for capacity building." ³¹

The report of the **Mbeki High Level Panel** on Illicit Financial Flows from Africa pointed out how these illicit flows "can be reduced and stemmed only by enhancing and improving relevant capacities across the board. This requires a dedicated and up-scaled effort to provide resources (...) it also means strengthening existing institutions by giving them the necessary autonomy and tools with which to carry out their duties." ³²

Several civil society organisations have also advocated for an increase in resources for capacity development and technical assistance:

Save the Children has recommended that the international community has to "provide financial and technical support to developing countries, as requested, to improve tax compliance and support the establishment of objective measures to track progress in the capacity improvement of tax administration systems".

Christian Aid has recommended that in order to "ameliorate the information and power asymmetries [linked to transfer pricing] we suggest the creation of increased technical capacity and expertise [is necessary]." ³⁴

However, despite the recognition that capacity development and technical assistance for developing countries is needed on tax matters, there are many concerns that do not only arise from theoretical points of view, but also from real world analysis and practical evaluations.

An **ActionAid** study highlights that "technical assistance is often overpriced and ineffective, and in the worst cases destroys rather than builds the capacity of the poorest countries (...) [and] continues to be identified, designed and managed by donors themselves, tied to donor countries' own firms, poorly coordinated, and based on a set of often untested assumptions about expatriate expertise and recipient ignorance." 35

Tax Justice Network (TJN) has stated that "there is always the possibility that assistance provided by particular governments, or International Organisations, will reflect the political and economic interests of the governments or organisations providing assistance, as well as business interests that might be influential within those governments or organisations." ³⁶

Eurodad and **ActionAid**, in the joint report *Approaches and Impact: IFI tax policy in developing countries*, analyse the role that international financial institutions – and especially the IMF – have played on tax policy reform during the last decade in developing countries. The report points out that "one of the fears about the tax policy advice delivered through technical assistance is that it is not home grown, but that the role taken on by the IMF as an 'external advisor' becomes one in which they carry through a reform agenda which is not owned by the permanent revenue officials." ³⁷

Also among the main international institutions themselves, several concerns have previously been raised about the way capacity development and technical assistance has been carried out.

In the conclusion of an *Evaluation of the Technical Assistance* provided by the IMF from 2005, the **IMF** affirms that "as far as institution building is concerned, progress has generally been achieved in enhancing the technical capabilities of the agencies (...) significant variability was found, however, on whether agencies have been able to make full use of those increased capabilities in order to have an impact on the ground or on the ultimate objectives of [technical assistance]." More recently, in a document titled Revenue Mobilization in Developing Countries, the IMF affirmed that "the Fund has come to occupy a leading role in advising on tax matters [in developing countries] its advice has been (...) sometimes controversial." 39

The previously mentioned **Mbeki High Level Panel** report also recognises that "it is somewhat contradictory for developed countries to continue to provide technical assistance and development aid to Africa while at the same time maintaining tax rules that enable the bleeding of the continent's resources."⁴⁰

There have also been some concerns from the **academic world**. For example, **Dr. Attiya Waris**, senior lecturer at the Nairobi University specialising in tax law and development, has produced several reports on tax issues in African countries. In her report, Taxing Intra-Company Transfers: the Law and its Application in Rwanda, Waris analyses the case of Rwanda in connection with transfer pricing application. She challenges the choice of the OECD model on transfer pricing in developing countries and asks why other alternatives are not on the table. She highlights that "the OECD approach has the greatest financing behind it to explain and use it and, therefore, to lobby for it at country level."⁴¹

Eurodad believes that more resources should be devoted to strengthening tax administrations in developing countries. However, a key criterion, which should be applied to capacity development and technical assistance as well as to official development assistance in general, is whether it is carried out in full accordance with international principles on aid effectiveness, including host country ownership. It is also vital that all kinds of conflicts of interest are avoided.

International principles for aid effectiveness and taxation

Building on the 2005 Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness, 42 the OECD has led the development of specific principles for international engagement in supporting developing countries in revenue matters, which were later supported by the Global Partnership for Effective Development Cooperation (GPEDC). 43 The 10 principles 44 concern the following themes:

- 1. Follow the leadership of government and coordinate at the country level: This principle includes the recognition that governments in developing countries are responsible for articulating their policy and administration needs, and that international assistance providers should operate according to the Paris Declaration commitments of ownership and alignment, follow the lead of partner country governments and ensure coordination among donors.
- 2. Do no harm. This principle underlines that donors are responsible for ensuring that their actions do not damage the revenue prospects of developing countries and should be sensitive to local conditions. It also underlines that developing country tax authorities should have the independence to operate in accordance with their country's legal framework.
- 3. Take a 'whole of government' approach to maximise policy coherence and aid effectiveness: This principle underlines the importance of donor countries promoting policy coherence within their own countries to ensure that development objectives are also incorporated in the broader government agenda. The principle also underlines that donors should provide a flexible and complementary mix of support, including, for example, budget support.
- 4. Take account of international aspects of taxation: This principle underlines that donor countries should work with developing countries at the international level to enhance their participation in fora where international revenue matters, norms and standards are debated and agreed.

- 5. Balance revenue collection imperatives with fairness, equity and governance considerations: This principle highlights that international support should encourage consideration of the trade-offs between revenue imperatives, effective enforcement mechanisms and social and governance objectives, and that taxation is a key instrument for addressing inequalities.
- **6. Encourage transparency in revenue matters:** This principle highlights the importance of transparency at both international and national level, including around areas such as tax incentives and misuse of transfer pricing.
- 7. Strengthen revenue and expenditure linkages:
 This principle highlights that donors strengthen
 accountability and policy dialogue by strengthening
 revenue and expenditure linkages.
- 8. Promote sustainability in revenue collection systems:

 This principle highlights that international support can
 play an important role in introducing sustainability
 in national revenue generation as well as broader
 sustainability issues.
- 9. Encourage broad-based dialogue on revenue matters that includes civil society, business and other stakeholders: This principle highlights that some donors can be well placed to engage a broader group of stakeholders, such as parliaments, civil society, labour unions, media and business associations, in their efforts to participate in tax dialogue, to monitor the operations of revenue authorities, and to hold governments to account for their revenue and expenditure policies.
- 10. Measure progress and build the knowledge base on revenue matters: This principle underlines that, with the support of development partners, developing countries should lead the development of country specific indicators for measuring progress on a broad set of governance and social objectives. Furthermore, international providers should build on existing efforts to ensure that externally funded interventions are evaluated and lessons are shared for use at both the country and international levels.

Tax inspectors without borders

"Tax Inspectors Without Borders (...) is just a dating platform."

Pascal Saint-Amans

Director Centre for Tax Policy and Administration, OECD 45

The Broader Context

This report focuses on the TIWB initiative. However, this initiative should be seen in the broader context of the Tax and Development programme that the OECD is running jointly with other technical assistance providers. ⁴⁶ The Transfer Pricing Programme provides 'support for developing countries seeking to implement or strengthen their transfer pricing rules'. ⁴⁷ While the Transfer Pricing Programme provides assistance for developing countries to write and update their actual legislation on transfer pricing, TIWB focuses on implementation. In particular, it focuses on the auditing process, where the initiative provides on-site assistance linked to real audit cases. According to the OECD, the Transfer Pricing programme can put the 'building blocks in place for effective transfer pricing regimes', after which TIWB projects, for instance, can be used to consolidate the impact. ⁴⁸

TIWB projects can, for example, include pre-audit risk assessment, case selection, investigatory techniques, and specific audit cases involving international tax issues including transfer pricing issues and anti-avoidance rules.⁴⁹

About taxation of multinational corporations

Taxation of MNCs is often far from an exact science. If the legislation of a country follows the OECD standards, the tax administration of that country must use the so-called 'Arm's Length Principle' 50 to determine how large a share of the company's profits 'belong' to their country (and can therefore be taxed by them), and how large a share 'belongs' to other countries. Since the Arm's Length Principle leaves a lot of room for interpretation, there is a lot of discretion involved in the auditing process. This has in turn given rise to the increased use of a specific type of tax rulings, also known as 'comfort letters' or 'sweetheart deals', which are agreements between tax administrations and individual MNCs determining upfront how the arm's length principle will be applied in each case. Advocates of these type of tax rulings, such as PwC, highlight that they are a way of 'removing uncertainty from transfer pricing.'51

From the perspective of TIWB, it is important to underline that auditing of MNCs is not a simple matter of following a clear and strict law. It is a process that involves making assessments, judgments and decisions, which can have a high impact on the overall level of taxation of the MNC. In some cases, taxation of MNCs is in the end settled through a bilateral negotiation between the government and the company, such as in the case of Google and the UK. ⁵² In other cases, conflicts between the MNC and the tax administration can result in court cases.

Linked to this is another issue of decision-making by the tax administration, namely how large a portion of the corporation's profit to claim for taxation in the country. Governments in general have endorsed the principle that two countries should not tax the same profits and, therefore, if the auditing tax administration decides to claim a higher amount of the overall profits of an MNC, there will be less profits available for other countries to tax. This, in turn, can lead to conflicts with other countries. From the perspective of TIWB, it is thus important to bear in mind that tax administrations from different countries can in some cases have conflicting interests.

History of TIWB

The idea of creating a group of tax advisors to be deployed in developing countries – and even the inception of the name itself – has been floated by the Tax Justice Network (TJN) since 2004.⁵³ The idea was officially raised in November 2011 by TJN's Director John Christensen during a meeting of the German Development Agency (GIZ) in Bonn, Germany. The initiative, he pointed out, should be independent from the OECD and should not be limited to audits but instead should be open to more comprehensive support to developing countries, mainly on taxing MNCs and the issue of transfer pricing.⁵⁴

The initiative gained support from the German government and the United States of America (US). In a conference on transparency held in Tunisia in 2012, a US government representative suggested the creation of a 'Financial Services Corps'. This 'SWAT team' should, according to the representative: "consist of volunteer experts from the public and private sectors who will provide technical assistance to transition countries." ⁵⁵

The OECD TIWB initiative was first announced in May 2012 at the OECD's Task Force on Tax and Development plenary meeting in Cape Town, South Africa⁵⁶ and, following a feasibility study which was adopted in June 2013, TIWB was established as a project.⁵⁷ After that, the project went into a pilot phase, which is described below.

During the Third UN Conference on Financing for Development (FfD) in Ethiopia in July 2015, TIWB was officially launched as a partnership between the OECD and the UN Development Programme (UNDP). At the time, the OECD and UNDP wrote, 'the OECD's technical competence in tax matters and its network of tax experts will be complemented by UNDP's country-level presence around the world, its access to policy makers at the highest level and its policy and programme expertise in public financial management'. The announcement also highlighted that the strength of the participation of UNDP is going to be its presence in many developing countries.⁵⁸

Objective, Mandate and Goal

According to the TIWB toolkit, the objective of TIWB is "to enable the sharing of tax audit knowledge and skills with tax administrations in developing countries through a targeted, real time 'learning by doing' approach. Selected experts will work with local tax officials directly on current audits and audit-related issues concerning international tax matters and general audit practices relevant for specific cases. This is a niche area of tax audit assistance, given its focus on providing assistance on real, current cases." ⁵⁹ It had an initial 18-month mandate from June 2013 to December 2014 to carry out pilot projects before the initiative officially became fully operational in 2016. ⁶⁰ The project is now in a phase that will last until the end of 2019. ⁶¹

According to the materials developed by the OECD during the pilot phase, 62 TIWB is expected to: 1) increase voluntary compliance and combat non-compliance; 2) improve investment climate and tax audit skills; 3) enhance statesociety relations; 4) foster international tax dialogue; 5) increase potential revenues collected; 6) improve quality and consistency of tax audits.

During the next phase (2016-2019), the OECD and UNDP have set the goal of supporting 100 deployments of experts to developing countries. 63

Secretariat, Management and Governance

In the new phase of the TIWB project, the TIWB Secretariat will be jointly managed by the OECD and UNDP. As in the pilot phase, the OECD will still be the hosts of the Secretariat.

In spring 2016, the former Assistant Manager of the International Tax Office at the Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA), James Karanja, was appointed as the head of the TIWB initiative. ⁶⁵ In a statement, the Commissioner General of the KRA, John Njiraini, said: "The appointment is expected to cement KRA's co-operation with the OECD which goes back as far as 2008 when Kenya commenced a very productive and still active capacity building engagement on transfer pricing." ⁶⁶

The Secretariat will match demand for with supply of experts to be deployed in developing countries, as well as monitoring and evaluating the deployments. The Secretariat will be supported by UNDP offices in developing countries, which will promote TIWB to senior officials and ministers, assist host administrations in completing the request procedures, establish, coordinate and facilitate each TIWB expert deployment, as well as develop and monitor any follow-up activities in this area.⁶⁷

In the pilot phase, TIWB had an Advisory Board that included representatives of regional tax administration networks (ATAF and CIAT), the business sector (OECD's Business and Industry Advisory Council), civil society (CCFD-Terre Solidaire)⁶⁸ and governments (France, Papua New Guinea and UK).⁶⁹

TIWB now has a new Governance Board to complement the Advisory Board (which has a more technical role). The Governance Board has the following key responsibilities:⁷⁰

- Promote the TIWB initiative to potential recipients, providers of tax audit experts, civil society, international and regional organisations and the international development community;
- Identify and encourage opportunities for greater South-South cooperation;
- Build political support for the TIWB initiative in both potential provider and recipient countries;
- Assist the TIWB fundraising activities by identifying and engaging with potential donors;
- Monitor the work plan and review the activities of the TIWB Secretariat and the TIWB Fund;
- Endorse the annual report;
- Incorporate lessons and opportunities for enhancing the TIWB initiative identified through the Board's promotion and fundraising activities;
- Endorse progress and achievements of TIWB through annual reporting.

The board is currently co-chaired by the OECD's Secretary General and UNDP's Administrator 71 and has the following members: 72

- Emilia Peres (former Minister of Finance of Timor-Leste);
- Lilianne Ploumen (Minister for Foreign Trade and Development Cooperation of the Netherlands);
- Mauricio Cárdenas Santa María (Minister of Finance and Public Credit of Colombia):
- Andrew Treusch (Chief Executive Officer of the Canada Revenue Agency)
- Ngozi Okonjo-Iweala (former Minister of Finance, Nigeria);
- Paul Collier (Professor of Economics and Public Policy, University of Oxford)
- John Christensen (Director, Tax Justice Network).

Financing for TIWB deployments will be channelled through UNDP, and funding for the Secretariat and the operations of the Governance Board will be channelled through the OECD.⁷³

TIWB in practice

Host country leadership

During the pilot phase, the Secretariat created a comprehensive toolkit, which served as a practical guide to implementing TIWB in developing countries. This toolkit makes it clear that: "The TIWB process is structured on the basis of a high-degree of active host administration involvement. The goal is to promote project ownership while using TIWB tools to create an effective and productive arrangement tailored to the host administration's objectives. The host administration therefore leads the TIWB audit assistance process from the moment it makes the request for expert assistance." ⁷⁴

TIWB is different from many other capacity development and technical assistance projects in the sense that it includes a very specific type of 'hands on' approach. Experts from the supplier country can get directly engaged in processes related to auditing of MNCs, and in some instances become directly engaged in specific cases – an area that can be highly sensitive, for example due to the increased risk of conflicts of interest, as well as legal and confidentiality issues (see below).

Stepwise approach

The toolkit also includes different points such as the definition of the scope of TIWB, duration, mode and timing of assistance, issues and questions related to the expert (the tax inspector), as well as the following nine steps in the process for a developing country to request an expert:

- 1. The host administration that wants to request an expert has to review the questions included in the toolkit, including:
 - a. In your country, are foreign nationals permitted to work in the public service and – in particular – the tax administration?
 - b. Are there any restrictions on the type of work foreign nationals can carry out within your tax administration?
 - c. Are there any legal requirements that must be met before a foreign national may work in the tax administration of your country?
 - d. Will your administration assume legal liability for any act or omission of the expert during the course of his/her work for your administration?
 - e. In the event of alleged fraud or other deliberate wrongdoing (through act or omission) by the expert, will your administration assume responsibility for all reasonable costs incurred by the expert in defending those allegations?
 - f. Will your administration assume responsibility for the safety of the expert?
 - g. Do your audit planning processes allow you to identify the entities that you intend to audit with the assistance of the TIWB expert at least two months in advance of the proposed programme start date?
 - h. Do the proposed audit activities to be undertaken with expert assistance include joint audit activities or bilateral or multilateral discussions or negotiations with other countries?
- 2. Complete the TIWB Assistance Request Form.
- 3. TIWB Secretariat will contact the host administration to confirm the reception of the Request Form.
- 4. The Secretariat will provide details of potential experts.
- 5. The host administration will have to contact the experts.
- 6. Agree the Terms of Reference with the expert and the partner administration in case the expert is still serving.
- 7. Determine clear objectives and indicators for measuring the impact of the programme.
- 8. The audit assistance commences.
- 9. Once concluded, an impact assessment must be undertaken.

Matching of experts and host country

Regarding the matching of experts with developing country needs, the OECD states that: "Developing country tax authorities request audit assistance, which is matched to appropriate expertise drawn from a pool of currently serving tax officials or recently retired tax officials." 75

In the TIWB pilot projects in Ghana, Rwanda and Senegal, the experts deployed in the developing countries were all serving tax officials from the donor countries –Netherlands, UK and France, respectively. When experts are – in the future – drawn from a pool of experts, there is likely to be more cases where the donor country and the country supplying the expert (supplier country) are two different countries. According to the OECD and UNDP, South–South deployments are also a growing element of TIWB programmes, which could increase the trend of donor country and supplier country being two different countries. There is, however, a risk that some donors will tie their support to a specific expert to be deployed – for example an employee of the donor's own tax administration (see, for example, below under 'The UK and tax assistance').

Potential conflicts of interest and legal constraints

The direct involvement of foreigners in the work of the tax administration of a developing country can, in some cases, introduce particular risks of conflicts of interest.

One example is the case where some of the MNCs operating in the host country are based in, or have strong connections to, the country supplying the expert. Even in the case where the expert is not directly dealing with the audit cases of these particular MNCs, the expert can end up in a situation of potential conflicts of interest. This can, for example, occur if the expert is training the tax administration of the developing country in how large a share of an MNC's profit to claim for taxation in the developing country. If the developing country generally starts claiming larger shares of MNCs' profits, it can lead to less profits being available for taxation in the other countries where these corporations are present, including in the home country of the expert. Tax audit trainings can also lead to an increase in the amount of taxes MNCs have to pay in developing countries, which some home countries of MNCs might have a general concern with, because of a wish to ensure that 'their MNCs' are profitable. This, again, can place the expert in a potential conflict of interest between the developing country and his/her home country.

Another potential source of conflict of interest is the case where the supplier country is among the countries that have structures or loopholes in their legislation that provide opportunities for MNCs to avoid taxation. While these setups are often legal, they can result in substantial losses of tax income in other countries where MNCs are operating, including developing countries. As described in Box 1, the governments of countries that have such structures tend to defend them and argue that they, are in fact, legitimate elements of so-called 'tax competition,' rather than harmful tax practices. In cases where MNCs operating in the developing countries are using such structures in the supplier country to avoid taxation, a conflict of interest, can arise for the expert. Since the expert is often a former or current employee of the supplier country's tax administration, the expert can end up in the difficult situation of either having to train the host country tax administration to identify financial transfers to his/her own country as a risk factor in relation to tax avoidance of MNCs, or remaining loyal to the government that is his/her current or former employer, by arguing that no structures or loopholes in the supplier country's tax legislation are a reason for concern.

Regarding how to manage potential conflicts of interest, the TIWB toolkit says that '[t]he host administration and the expert together determine whether there is a potential conflict of interest'. The toolkit also highlights that host countries can consider different responses to potential conflicts of interest, including: reallocating the expert to other audit cases; limiting the role of the expert in the audit; discussing the issue with the company which is about to be audited; or selecting another TIWB expert for the project. Regarding the last option, the toolkit underlines that: "Where the expert is a currently serving tax official, the host administration should contact the partner administration prior to changing the terms of, or terminating, the TIWB programme due to potential conflict of interest. This will allow the partner administration the opportunity to discuss the proposed changes to, or termination of, the TIWB programme with the host administration and the expert before a final decision is made." 77

The Toolkit also highlights that: "[w]here conflict of interest is likely to arise, providing expert assistance on the bases of anonymised tax files can be an effective approach to overcome the potential of conflict while also retaining the benefits of working on current audit issues." 78

The Toolkit underlines that anonymised cases can also be a solution to another problem that might arise, namely the instances where the host country has "legal or policy restrictions on a non-national's full involvement in audit activities." ⁷⁹

Box 1: Tackling harmful tax practices

Within the European Union (EU), the discussion about whether Member States are deliberately providing opportunities for MNCs to avoid taxation has been raging for years. In 2015, Der Spiegel online gained access to confidential documents describing how the Netherlands, Belgium and Luxembourg have caused strong concerns within other EU member states by protecting tax practices that could provide opportunities for MNCs to avoid paying taxes.

More recently, a study commissioned by the European Commission looked at 33 indicators of structures that facilitate or allow aggressive tax planning. The study found that the tax system of the Netherlands has 17 of the 33 indicators (higher than any other EU country), followed by Belgium with 16. Both countries have also become subjects of state aid cases launched by the European Commission.

In the case of the Netherlands, the Commission has found that tax advantages granted to Starbucks constituted illegal state aid, and in the case of Belgium the same was the case for a special Belgian tax scheme that granted tax advantages to specific MNCs.

A similar state aid case was launched by the Commission against Luxembourg, a country that also received much international attention after the LuxLeaks scandal. This revealed that hundreds of MNCs had obtained secret "sweetheart deals" from the tax administration of Luxembourg, allowing them to avoid large amounts of tax payments globally. That said, the above-mentioned study 'only' found 13 indicators for risk of aggressive tax planning in Luxembourg.

All three governments have appealed against the European Commission's decision in the state aid cases.

Sources:

Der Spiegel Online International. (2015). Internal EU Documents: How the Benelux Blocked Anti-Tax Haven Laws. Published on 6 November 2015. http://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/eu-documents-reveal-how-benalux-blocked-tax-haven-laws-a-1061526.html

International Consortium of Investigative Journalists. Luxembourg Leaks: Global Companies' Secrets Exposed. Accessed 30 September 2016: https://www.icij.org/project/luxembourg-leaks

Ramboll Management Consulting and Corit Advisory. (2016), Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators. Commissioned by the European Commission. Working Paper no 61, 2015. http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_papers/taxation_paper_61.pdf

European Commission. SA.38374 State aid implemented by the Netherlands to Starbucks; SA. 37667 Excess Profit exemption in Belgium – Art. 185§2 b) CIR92; and SA.38375 State aid which Luxembourg granted to Fiat. European Commission website, accessed 30 September 2016: http://ec.europa.eu/competition/elojade/isef/case_details.cfm?proc_code=3_SA_38374, http://ec.europa.eu/competition/elojade/isef/case_details.cfm?proc_code=3_SA_38375

TIWB pilot projects

Overall results of the pilot phase

During a Secretariat review⁸⁰ of TIWB in December 2014, the OECD provided an overview of TIWB pilot projects, which is outlined below, along with an update on the current state of each project indicated in brackets.⁸¹

- Ghana Netherlands (suspended due to outbreak of Ebola but currently ongoing)
- 2. Ghana South Africa (not started)
- 3. Albania Italy (concluded)
- 4. Malawi Ireland (not started)
- 5. Rwanda UK (on hold)82
- 6. Lesotho UK (ongoing)
- Senegal France (phase I completed and Phase II program expected late 2016)
- 8. Papua New Guinea (on hold)
- Moldova Sweden (now run as part of a wider Swedish support program for Moldova)
- 10. Vietnam retired expert (due to commence in 2017)
- 11. Costa Rica (commencing in September 2016 with support from Spain)
- 12. Colombia (not started)

As can be seen, some of the pilot projects did not in the end materialise, and other projects have been added to the list of what the OECD and UNDP refer to as 'TIWB style projects'. This concept covers three different types of projects: Projects conducted by individual 'supplier' countries to tax administrations in developing countries, where UNDP and the OECD are not directly involved, but promote the projects and draw lessons and experience; Tax audit assistance work performed on anonymised cases by OECD officials during Transfer Pricing workshops in developing countries; and lastly so-called 'pure' TIWB programmes set up with the involvement of the TIWB Secretariat.⁸³

The OECD and UNDP highlight that "To date, TIWB has delivered a conservatively estimated 185 million USD in additional revenues from programmes across Africa, Asia and Latin America." 84 The OECD explains 85 that the USD 185 million is a sum of the following results:

- Albania: An audit performed with TIWB assistance by Italy resulted in a transfer pricing adjustment for 2014 equalling 7% of the Earnings Before Interest and Taxes of an Albanian resident subsidiary of a multinational enterprise.
- Colombia: Increase in tax revenue from USD 5.83 million in 2012 to USD 33 million in 2014 = USD 27.17 million;
- **Kenya:** Increase in tax revenue from USD 52 million in 2012 to USD 107 million in 2014 = USD 55 million;
- Senegal: increased revenue from their TIWB project with France: audit adjustments have resulted in an additional USD 12.3 million of tax revenue in 2015;

- Vietnam: Increase in tax revenue from USD 3.9 million in 2013 to USD 40 million in 2014 = USD 36.1 million:
- **Zambia:** Increase in tax revenues from USD 3.22 million in 2012 to USD 7.91 million in 2013 = USD 4.69 million; and
- **Zimbabwe:** Revenue from investigations work increased from USD 160 million in 2014 to USD 211 million in the first nine months of 2015 = USD 51 million.

It should be noted that the projects in Zambia, Zimbabwe, Vietnam, Colombia and Kenya are not so-called 'pure TIWB programmes', but rather audit assistance on anonymised cases under the Transfer Pricing programme, which was launched in 2011 and is being implemented by the OECD and a number of other donors. This Transfer Pricing programme is different from 'pure TIWB programmes' in the sense that it also may include concrete changes to the legislation of the developing country – a feature which is not normally part of TIWB. Furthermore, unlike the TIWB model, it does not focus on deployment of foreign experts to participate directly in the tax administration of a developing country. Instead, it consists of training of the developing country tax administrators, for example through training workshops.⁸⁶

This report focuses on the type of pilot projects that follow the pure TIWB model, meaning that the TIWB Secretariat has been involved and the project involves a deployment of foreign experts to participate in the tax administration in developing countries. In particular, this report will look at three specific pilot projects.

The pilot projects

The next next section will focus on the UK-Rwanda, Netherlands-Ghana and France-Senegal pilot projects.

The 'extracts' for the TIWB pilot projects that are included as Figures 1 to 6 were taken from unofficial internal documents from the OECD that the authors had access to even though they have not been officially published. They are from two different versions of the same OECD document. The first document carries the title 'Annex 2: Overview TIWBpilots and status' and was submitted by the OECD Secretariat as an annex to a meeting of the TIWB advisory board on 7 November 2014. The second document carries the title 'Secretariat Review of the Tax Inspectors Without Borders (TIWB) Initiative' and includes the introductory statement: 'This paper provides the main findings from a review of the TIWB initiative undertaken by the OECD Secretariat in December 2014'. The internal process that produced these documents is unknown. However, Eurodad has decided to publish this information because these internal documents raise some important issues that deserve to be part of the debate about TIWB.

The UK-Rwanda TWIB pilot project

The UK and tax assistance

The UK has been involved in capacity development and technical assistance in taxation for many years. During the period 2009-2011 Her Majesty's Revenue Collection (HMRC) Transfer Pricing Team provided transfer pricing assistance to over 25 developing countries.⁸⁷

The UK is both a funder of the TIWB Secretariat⁸⁸ and also participated in a TIWB pilot project together with Rwanda.

As regards funding for specific TIWB projects, the UK has so far funded projects where the expert being deployed was also from the UK, namely from the HMRC. This is part of broader co-operation between DFID and HMRC, which also includes funding directly from DFID to HMRC for a special Developing Countries Capacity Building Unit. According to the UK Government, "The Unit will deploy HMRC staff to developing countries to provide technical expertise in support of DFID efforts to increase the capacity of tax policy and administration in partner countries." While this does not exclude the UK acting as a donor for TIWB projects involving experts supplied by other countries, it does indicate that a part of the UK funding is earmarked for deployments of the UK government's own experts.⁸⁹

The UK-Rwanda relationship

The UK also has a long history as far as Rwanda and assistance on taxation is concerned. In 2005, Rwanda enacted the Law on Direct Taxes on Income, which introduced transfer pricing provisions for the first time. These provisions – and the law – were included, as Dr Attiya Waris, senior lecturer at the Nairobi University specialised in tax law and development, highlighted – "as a result of a DFID funded initiative. It neither followed as a result of any noticeable misuse of international transfer pricing laws nor was there any discussion within any of the law making and administrative bodies in Rwanda to the effect that there was a need for such a law." ⁹⁰

The UK and Rwanda also have commercial ties. According to the UK government, there are around 150 British companies registered in Rwanda, and bilateral trade reached £21 million in 2014. As an example of the commercial ties, the UK government highlights that: "UK companies, including Deloitte, PWC and Ernst & Young, are leading the growth of the financial services sector in Rwanda." 91

As regards the TIWB pilot project, the UK provided two visits to the Rwanda Revenue Authority during 2014. The first visit in January 2014 and the type of support was, "to increase [Rwanda Revenue Authority] capability in the tax discipline of transfer pricing and other international tax issues so that it can better tax the profits of multinational enterprises that arise in Rwanda and thereby provide Rwanda with the revenues it needs to develop further." The second visit, in August 2014, focused on: "supporting the Rwanda Revenue Authority to increase its capability in the tax discipline of transfer pricing and other international tax issues."

The UK tax system

Although not among the worst countries in the EU, the UK has a number of potentially harmful tax practices, including a patent boxes system. 94 The UK is also one of the EU countries that has issued the highest number of special tax rulings for MNCs, also known as 'sweetheart deals'. 95 It is, however, another issue which led Tax Justice Network (TJN) to conclude that "the UK [is] one of the biggest, if not the biggest, single player in the global offshore system of tax havens." According to TJN, there are two reasons for this: "The first is that the City of London (...) is on some measures the world's largest financial centre (...) [T]his is built substantially on 'offshore' characteristics – though these characteristics in the UK's own case aren't particularly predicated on financial secrecy but on other offshore offerings, particularly lax financial regulation. The second is that the UK is intricately connected to a large network of British secrecy jurisdictions around the world, notably the three Crown Dependencies (Jersey, Guernsey and the Isle of Man) and the 14 Overseas Territories, which include such offshore giants as Cayman, the British Virgin Islands and Bermuda." 96

In general, the UK government appears highly committed to what it calls 'tax competition', which is a term often used to describe the efforts of governments to provide MNCs with attractive tax arrangements to convince the corporations to move to their country. On this issue the UK has, for example, committed to "creating the most competitive tax regime in the G20." 97 A recent report by the Independent Commission for Aid Impact (ICAI) found that "DFID does not have a clear approach to promoting 'policy coherence for development in the tax area. It has not assessed areas of potential tension between UK tax policies and the needs of developing countries." The report also highlighted that "the literature suggests that there are potential areas of tension between UK policies and developing country interests, including those concerning international tax competition and bilateral tax treaties." 98 The UK has a relatively high number of tax treaties with developing countries, 99 but Rwanda is not among those countries. 100

Rwanda and taxation of multinational corporations

Rwandan tax legislation was recently updated and is, according to PwC, generally consistent with OECD Guidelines. One of the elements that has been introduced is the opportunity for MNCs to negotiate special tax rulings about their tax arrangements – also known as 'sweetheart deals' – with the government.101

Another thing Rwanda has done to attract investments is to introduce tax incentives for MNCs. The civil society organisation ActionAid has raised concerns that the country has introduced 'far-reaching tax incentives to foreign investors' and highlights estimates suggesting that Rwanda is losing between USD 115-176 million per year due to tax incentives. 102 James Butare, the head of programmes and policy at ActionAid Rwanda, has called for transparency in the negotiations of incentives as well as clear monitoring mechanisms. He points out that: "We are not saying that all tax incentives are harmful but, rather, the Government should be able to provide reasonable incentives and in priority areas which have multiplier effects and leading to inclusive development." 103

The TIWB Pilot Project

According to the internal OECD documents (Figure 1 and 2) The TIWB pilot project carried out by the UK and Rwanda focused on the subject of transfer pricing, including risk assessment, case selection and audit techniques. The internal documents also present more detailed information about the project, and give rise to questions, which are discussed below under the title 'Analysis'.

Another key feature of the first UK pilot phase deployments in Rwanda is how they were implemented - namely, who implemented them and who managed them. This information is presented in the next section.

The Investment Facility for Utilising Specialist Expertise (iFUSE)



In 2011, DFID decided to provide £3.48 million to the Investment Facility for Utilising Specialist Expertise (iFUSE), "an outsourced facility for the provision of specialist expertise on a non-profit basis, to assist partner developing countries in implementing investment climate reforms." 104

iFUSE is managed by DFID's Managing Agent, which is PwC (see Box 2). PwC is, according to iFUSE, "responsible for matching requests from developing countries for support with the best available expertise, and managing each deployment from start to finish." 105

According to iFUSE Frequently Asked Questions, 106 its mission is to supply specialist government-to-government expertise to support business environment improvement in DFID partner countries.¹⁰⁷

As stated by iFUSE, 108 key elements of its mission are to reform the investment climate and help deliver more jobs for local people, better prospects for economic growth and a greater range of products and services for consumers at more competitive prices.

The range of actions is wide and includes: 109 taxation; competition law and policy; consumer protection; publicprivate partnerships; general interface with businesses; commercial law and justice; financial sector regulation and supervision; infrastructure development; privatisation (intellectual property); accountancy standards.

Figure 1: November 2014 extract from an unofficial internal OECD document about the UK-Rwanda TIWB project.¹¹⁰

See explanation on page 17 under the title 'The pilot projects'

Pilot 5	Rwanda – UK
Subject	Transfer pricing (risk assessment, case selection, audit techniques)
Procedures followed	• Pilot established at early stage TIWB through informal bilateral contacts Rwanda and UK; No formal 'paper' request by Rwanda (no procedures in place yet at the time); No ToR but only broad agreement UK and RRA for TIWB; UK in the lead during whole process;
Deployment agreement	 No ToR/deployment agreement were prepared by UK nor RRA; After informal contacts, Secr. sent draft anonymised depl. agreement to UK, which was adjusted and used for TIWB with RRA; Lack of knowledge/capacity in RRA to work on legal aspects agreement; therefore UK in the lead; Draft Toolkit used by UK (very positive reactions UK on Toolkit); Draft deployment agreement set up by HMRC yet to be signed by RRA; to date depl. Agreement not signed by RRA.
Missions	 2 missions 'on site' so far (first = 1 week; second = 2 weeks) with email contacts in between; No TIWB-actions performed and no work done on actual cases yet; apparently RRA expects regular TA and no TIWB-assistance.
Practical issues	 Communication with RRA troublesome (slow, change of contact persons); UK expert took signed deployment agreement with him to Rwanda; still not signed by RRA Commissioner; Oath of Secrecy was not yet made before RRA Commissioner; significance and relevance Oath of Secrecy underestimated by RRA; Low level of comprehension TIWB-concept with RRA (TIWB seen as regular Technical assistance by RRA);
Role Secretariat	 Limited; no need for matchmaking role because contacts had been established already; Advice and support Secretariat to HMRC on drafting deployment agreement, issues as conflict of interest and fiscal secrecy, etc;
Costs and funding model	 All costs borne by UK (salaries experts, travel costs, per diem); UK offered this to host admin; "Development money" (DFID) used to finance deployments; Commonly used model in UK, based on existing relations DFID and HMRC; model functions well in practice and to be continued (info from UK HMRC and DFID).
Constraints experienced in practice by experts	 Legislation: TP-legislation and regulations not yet in place, although RRA assured HMRC that it would be; Practical matters: capacity host admin (TP-knowledge, audit knowledge and skills of staff) lower than expected; RRA going through ongoing internal reorganisation, meaning existing contact persons disappeared without follow-up; Communication: RRA answers on emails and/or questions with great delay or in most cases not at all.
Results/outcome	 None yet, because no actual work on cases has been done because of lack of preparation by RRA; Contacts with RRA appear to be impossible lately (allegedly because of internal restructuring RRA);
Current situation	• TIWB put on hold until January 2015 by UK; TP-legislation still not in place, although RRA assured UK that it would be (expected now January 2015); however strange, RRA said legislation will stipulate that TP-returns have to be submitted regarding the year 2014;
Lessons learnt	 At initial stage scope of requested programme to be defined very clearly; direct 'hands-on' involvement Secretariat needed; Specific information to be gathered on legislation, policy measures, organisation and (audit) capacity staff host admin. Specific attention needed to establish well functioning and sustainable communication channels between parties.

Figure 2: December 2014 extract from an unofficial internal OECD document about the UK-Rwanda TIWB project.¹¹¹

See explanation on page 17 under the title 'The pilot projects'

Pilot 5	Rwanda – UK
Subject	Transfer pricing (risk assessment, case selection, audit techniques)
Procedures followed	 Pilot established at early stage TIWB (existing contacts Rwanda and UK); Co-operation based on broad agreement UK and RRA for TIWB; UK in the lead during whole process;
Deployment agreement	 Initially no ToR/deployment agreement prepared by UK nor RRA; Secretariat advised parties to set ToR/deployment agreement and supported with drafting; Draft Toolkit used by UK (positive reactions UK on Toolkit); Draft deployment agreement set up by HMRC, but yet to be signed by RRA;
Missions	 2 missions 'on site' so far (first = 1 week; second = 2 weeks) with email contacts in between; No TIWB-work done on actual cases yet by TIWB-expert;
Practical issues	 Communication with RRA troublesome (change of contact persons in RRA); UK expert took signed deployment agreement with him to Rwanda; still not signed by RRA Commissioner; Oath of Secrecy was not yet made before RRA Commissioner; significance and relevance Oath of Secrecy to be taken by foreign expert apparently underestimated by RRA; RRA not familiar enough with specific features TIWB-concept and TIWB-programme;
Role Secretariat	 Limited; no need for matchmaking role because contacts had been established already; Advice and support Secretariat to HMRC on drafting deployment agreement, issues like conflict of interest and fiscal secrecy, etc.;
Costs and funding model	 All costs borne by UK (salaries experts, travel costs, per diem); Funding TIWB-programme by/through DFID; commonly used model in UK, based on existing relations DFID and HMRC.
Constraints experienced in practice by experts	 Legislation: TP-legislation and regulations in Rwanda not yet in place, although RRA assured HMRC that it would be; Practical matters: capacity host admin (TP-knowledge, audit knowledge and skills of staff) lower than expected; Organisation: ongoing internal reorganisations in RRA, with consequence that existing contact persons disappear without follow-up; Communication: RRA answers on emails and/or questions with great delay.
Results/outcome	 No actual TIWB work on cases has been done because of lack of preparation by RRA; Some activities in area of risk assessment (capacity building); Contacts with RRA appear to be troublesome (allegedly because of internal restructuring RRA);
Lessons learned	 At initial stage scope of requested programme to be defined very clearly; direct 'hands-on' involvement Secretariat needed; Specific information to be gathered on legislation, policy measures, organisation and (audit) capacity staff host admin. Specific attention needed to establish well-functioning and sustainable communication channels between parties.
Current situation	• TIWB put on hold until January 2015 by UK. • TP-legislation expected to be in place January 2015, so actual TIWB-activities can be restarted;

When stating how iFUSE's Managing Agent (PwC) reviews assignments/deployments, it is made clear that the request: 112

- Has to align clearly with a priority investment climate issue:
- Has to have a clear impact/contribution to investment climate reform within the partner country or region.

On the issue of whether PwC's involvement could create a potential conflict of interest, a DFID spokesperson said: "PwC act as managing agents for DFID's Investment Facility for Utilising UK Specialist Expertise programme but are not involved with advising developing countries, which is carried out by independent experts. As with all our programmes, we have rigorous checks and balances in place to ensure there is no conflict of interest." 113

The UK later changed its funding method for the TIWB programme, which is now no longer funded through iFUSE.¹¹⁴

Analysis

Leadership

The internal OECD documents mention that 'UK [was] in the lead during the whole process'. The first internal document describes this as a consequence of 'Lack of knowledge/ capacity in the [Rwandan Revenue Authority] to work on legal aspects agreement'. The documents also indicate that the communication with Rwanda was 'troublesome', and that Rwanda had a 'low level of comprehension' of the TIWB concept. The first document furthermore notes that 'apparently [the Rwandan Revenue Authority] expects regular [Technical Assistance] and no TIWB-assistance'. This raises the concern that the host country was not leading the process, and thus the interests and objectives of the developing country – in this case Rwanda – might not have been central in the project development. This would seem contrary to the Principles for International Engagement in Supporting Developing Countries in Revenue Matters (see the chapter 'International Principles for Aid Effectiveness and Taxation' above), as well as the original aid effectiveness principles, 115 and it is therefore also noteworthy that the internal documents do not suggest that the OECD Secretariat did anything to address this issue, but rather took the role of supporting the UK, while there is no mention of support to Rwanda.

It is important to note in this context that the internal OECD documents only cover a limited period until December 2014, and that the situation might have changed since then. It should also be noted that although the internal documents mention '2 missions 'on site' so far', it also notes that 'No TIWB-actions [were] performed and no work done on actual cases yet'.

However, the internal documents do indicate that the UK-Rwanda pilot project did not follow a process where the TIWB project was initiated on the basis of a request from the host country.

The involvement of PwC

It is a clear problem that the TIWB UK-Rwanda pilot project led to the deployment of experts managed by PwC to a developing country to advise on taxation of MNCs. As explained in Box 2, PwC has a number of significant interests in the area of taxation, and the role of manager of TIWB deployments creates conflicts of interest.

Box 2: PwC and tax

PwC is recognised as one of the most important auditing companies in the world, with a total revenue in 2015 of \$35 billion. 116 It is among the four largest auditing companies in the world, collectively known as the 'Big Four', which also includes KPMG, EY and Deloitte. These companies offer several services to their clients related to audits, assurance and consulting among others. Around 99 per cent of Financial Times Stock Exchange 100 (FTSE 100) companies are advised by the Big Four. 117 According to the International Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ), they have acquired a role by "gaining clout and inside knowledge by helping governments write the laws that establish the offshore system's rules of engagement, and by lobbying heavily to keep the rules to their liking." 118 At the same time, PwC provides tax advice to MNCs and has been accused of systematically facilitating tax avoidance through its advice. The British Member of Parliament Margaret Hodge told PwC during a UK Parliamentary Hearing in the Public Accounts Committee, "what you are doing is selling tax avoidance on an industrial scale," with reference to their role in brokering tax rulings for MNCs.¹¹⁹

PwC has been involved in several scandals linked to tax avoidance, helping companies to reduce their tax bills. Perhaps the most famous one is the so-called LuxLeaks scandal, which revealed how PwC negotiated 548 tax rulings (also referred to as 'sweetheart deals') for more than 300 MNCs in Luxembourg (including well-known brands such as Pepsi, Amazon, Skype and Ikea) from 2002 to 2010, in order to create a drastic tax reduction by channelling hundreds of billions of dollars to Luxembourg (sometimes the resulting tax rate was below 1 per cent).¹²⁰ Despite being legal, the practices revealed gave rise to much criticism and concern.¹²¹

The fact that PwC takes on a number of different roles in relation to tax matters, including advising governments on tax regulation, advising companies on tax planning, servicing governments with impact assessments of tax regulation, auditing companies and actively lobbying for specific types of tax legislation, is a reason for conflicts of interest. In 2014, it became a point of much critique when the European Commission hired PwC to perform an impact assessment of public country by country reporting – a type of legislation that PwC had lobbied strongly against.¹²²

PwC seems to have some clear opinions when it comes to corporate taxation in developing countries. For example, as expressed in a report written for the European Commission, where PwC recommends that "the OECD Guidelines could serve as common global standards for transfer pricing and we would advocate that developing countries orient themselves to these standards when adopting and implementing transfer pricing legislation." 123 PwC is also an active participant in the debate about how the laws regulating the taxation of MNCs in Rwanda and the East African Community should be changed. For example, in 2014 PwC joined other business representatives in a call for the East African Community to use the OECD's transfer pricing rules and create better conditions for MNCs. 124 This once again highlights PwC's role as tax advisor and advocate for MNCs, but in the case of the TIWB pilot project between the UK and Rwanda, also manager for an aid-funded project about taxation of MNCs operating in Rwanda.

The involvement of PwC in the TIWB project also became a debate in the UK, where Member of Parliament Diane Abbott, then the shadow international development secretary, argued: "As the Luxleaks scandal has shown, PwC is in the business of helping multinational corporations avoid tax. For this reason it is abundantly clear that there is potentially a very serious conflict of interest in DFID paying PwC to administer projects designed to help developing countries raise more tax". She added: "For a business that claims to provide accountability and transparency, PwC seems to have put itself in a position where conflicts of interest are not only clearly possible, but in fact highly likely.

Without transparency how is DFID to know that PwC is not running rungs around them?" She also called for "... some immediate clarity to know that we are not paying PwC to bat for poor countries' governments while also batting for big business to steal from those governments," and underlined that "PwC and Tax Inspectors without Borders must make public, on an ongoing basis, the affiliations of each individual sent to each developing country tax authority, the identities of corporate taxpayers in those countries over whose tax bills they may have had influence, and the identity of the auditors of those firms." She concluded: "Following the Luxleaks scandal, it beggars belief that DFID would use a known facilitator of massive global tax avoidance to administer support work to tax authorities in the world's poorest countries." 125

It is positive and very important that the setup for the UK-Rwanda TIWB project has now been changed, and that PwC is no longer managing the experts being deployed. However, one question that has not been answered is how this could happen in the first place, and why there are apparently no procedures in place in the UK or the OECD to prevent this. The fact that DFID rejects that PwC's involvement constituted a conflict of interest also raises the question of whether something similar could happen again in the future.

The risk of intergovernmental conflicts of interest

The fact that there are about 150 British companies present in Rwanda can put the UK expert in a conflict between, on the one hand, the interest of supporting UK businesses to increase their profits in Rwanda, and/or maximising the profit available for the UK to tax and, on the other hand, the interest of helping the Rwandan government to increase its corporate tax income. Even in the case where the expert does not work directly with audits of UK companies, potential conflicts can still arise as the training of the Rwandan tax administrators would presumably be aimed at developing a method for auditing MNCs in general.

Another potential intergovernmental conflict of interest is the UK's commitment to being 'tax competitive', and the fact that the UK has several potentially harmful tax practices in its legislation. If MNCs were to use structures or agreements in the UK (for example tax rulings or 'sweetheart deals') to avoid taxation in other countries, the expert can be placed in a conflict between the interests of his/her employer, the UK government - which would not want its tax system to be challenged - and Rwanda, which might not receive full information about the risk of tax avoidance through the UK.

The potential of the project

Assuming that the above mentioned issues regarding leadership and conflicts of interests have been, or could be, solved (which, especially in the case of conflicts of interest, will not always be the case), and to the extent the TIWB project could constitute a joint effort by the expert and the Rwandan tax administration to ensure that MNCs pay their fair share of taxes in Rwanda, this could have a positive impact, and bring important skills to Rwanda. However, while the UK undoubtedly has more resources and knowledge on the issue of taxing MNCs, it should be noted that the UK's approach to this issue has in some cases raised serious concerns domestically, as exemplified by the case of the taxation of Google. 126 The above mentioned report by the Independent Commission for Aid Impact (ICAI) also highlighted that "DFID's influencing approach and its capacity building support on international tax have not been based on clear analyses of developing country needs." 127 It is thus important to keep a critical awareness about exactly what skills are transferred to Rwanda.

The Netherlands-Ghana TWIB pilot project

The Netherlands-Ghana economic relationship

The relationship between Ghana and the Netherlands includes Dutch corporate interests in Ghana. In its Multi Annual Strategic Plan, 128 the Dutch embassy in Ghana writes: "More than hundred Dutch companies are active on the Ghanaian market. General interest in Ghana is growing fast, ranging from large multinationals to small and medium enterprises."

From the strategy, it appears as if the Dutch engagement with TIWB is part of a larger strategy to support international business.

"The Netherlands, within the framework of the OECD Tax Inspectors without Borders program is cooperating with the "Large Tax Payers" office of the Ghana Revenue authority to improve service levels and predictability for companies and investors in Ghana. The Embassy will establish a top sector fund. Its purpose is to investigate promising business opportunities and to address any bottlenecks experienced by the private sector in the enabling environment with regard to trade and investment between the Netherlands and Ghana."

Regarding taxation of businesses in Ghana, the strategy highlights that: "The economy is still dominated by a large informal sector, only a small number of larger companies pay, very high, taxes. The Netherlands will support Ghana in broadening its tax base by technical assistance and direct cooperation with Dutch tax authorities."

Among the Dutch companies operating in Ghana is one of the most important oil companies in the world, the Anglo-Dutch company Royal Dutch Shell, which has important interests at stake in Ghana such as the Liquefied Natural Gas project 'Ghana 1000'. 129 Another company operating in Ghana is SAB Miller, which in 2010 was the key focus of an ActionAid report that found evidence of major tax avoidance by the company. One of the key mechanisms by which the company was avoiding paying taxes in Ghana was a structure set up in the Netherlands. 130

The Dutch tax system

A number of strong concerns have been raised about the tax system of the Netherlands, and the opportunities it provides for MNCs to shift profits and avoid taxes. For example:

- The Netherlands has a high number of structures that
 can potentially facilitate aggressive tax planning by MNCs
 aiming to avoid paying taxes in the countries where they
 do business. A study commissioned by the European
 Commission found that the Netherlands has the highest
 number of indicators of such harmful tax practices among
 all EU Member States.¹³¹ That led Oxfam to conclude that
 "the Netherlands is the undisputed European champion in
 facilitating corporate tax avoidance."¹³²
- The Netherlands is among the EU Member States that have the highest number of secret bilateral agreements between the government and individual MNCs, also known as tax rulings or 'sweetheart deals'.¹³³ One of these tax rulings has become the centre of a state aid case launched by the European Commission, which has found the tax ruling between the Netherlands and Starbucks to constitute illegal state aid.¹³⁴ The Dutch government has appealed the decision.¹³⁵
- The Netherlands has an extensive network of tax treaties, which lower the tax rates on money transferred to and from the Netherlands. This includes a relatively high number of tax treaties with developing countries. 136 The Multi Annual Strategic Plan¹³⁷ of the Dutch embassy in Ghana also explicitly mentions that both Dutch companies, as well as companies based outside of the Netherlands, can use the Dutch tax treaty system to achieve "certainty" in their tax payments: 'Since the tax treaty between Ghana and The Netherlands came into effect in 2008, investments in Ghana from The Netherlands have substantially increased, from EUR 36 million in 2007 to EUR 2.1 billion in 2011. This increase is partially explained by investments from third countries that are looking for certainty in their tax payments.' In a welcome move, the Dutch government recently decided to renegotiate its treaties with 23 developing countries (including Ghana) in order to introduce anti-abuse clauses. 138 However, such a clause does not address the concern that Dutch tax treaties with developing countries have introduced substantial reductions of the tax rates charged on money going from developing countries to the Netherlands. 139

Ghana and taxation of multinational corporations

Inside Ghana, the emphasis on the attraction of foreign direct investment by government authorities has become – according to ActionAid Ghana – "an integral part of Ghana's economic policy." ¹⁴⁰ This strategy has been based on providing what is known as tax incentives, which can be defined as deliberate tax exemptions or concessions to increase the investment flow into an economy. ¹⁴¹ These have produced an estimated revenue loss of \$1.2 billion annually, ¹⁴² as ActionAid Ghana concludes in its report.

Ghana introduced new transfer pricing legislation in September 2012 that, according to the OECD, is now "aligned with international standards." This includes the 'arm's length approach', which is a core principle of the Ghanaian transfer pricing regulation. He OECD affirms that together with other donors, it provided "significant input and advice on the drafting of the new legislation." 145

The TIWB Pilot Project

According to the internal OECD documents (Figure 3 and 4), the TIWB pilot project carried out by the Netherlands and Ghana focused on the subject of transfer pricing, including risk assessment, case selection and audit techniques. As in the case of the UK and Rwanda, the internal documents also present more detailed information about the project, and give rise to questions which are discussed next under the title 'Analysis'.

Analysis

Leadership

The first internal OECD document (from November 2014) mentions that '[the Netherlands was] in the lead, defining workable scope for programme'; 'Draft agreement accepted by Ghana without any comments'; 'concept and features [of] TIWB not fully known to host [administration]' and that 'Ghana had a passive role in process'. Furthermore, the document mentions that 'Oath of Secrecy was made before [the Ghana Revenue Authority Commissioner] only after pressure [from] Dutch [Ministry of Finance] and experts'. While the document also mentions 'positive feedback from [the Ghana Revenue Authority] on co-operation', this does raise concerns that Ghana was not in the lead during the project development. While this would seem contrary to the Principles for International Engagement in Supporting Developing Countries in Revenue Matters (see the chapter 'International Principles for Aid Effectiveness and Taxation' above), as well as the original aid effectiveness principles, 146 the internal documents do not suggest that the OECD Secretariat did anything to address this issue, but rather took the role of supporting the Netherlands, while there is no mention of support to Ghana. In the document from December 2014, the text above has been deleted. Therefore, it is important to note that the first internal document only covers a limited period of time (until November 2014), and that the situation might have changed since then. While both documents note that 'Experts worked on risk assessment and case selection', it is also made clear that 'no work [had been] done on actual audit cases yet'.

However, the internal documents do indicate that the Netherlands-Ghana pilot project did not follow a process where the TIWB project was initiated on the basis of a request from the host country.

Figure 3: November 2014 extract from an unofficial OECD document about the Netherlands-Ghana TIWB pilot project. 147

See explanation on page 17 under the title 'The pilot projects'

Pilot 1	Ghana – Netherlands
Subject	Transfer pricing (risk assessment, case selection, audit techniques)
Procedures followed	 Pilot established at early stage TIWB through informal bilateral contacts NL- Ghana (Korea 2013); No formal 'paper' request for TIWB-programme by Ghana (no procedures in place yet at the time); ToR set and agreed on bilaterally by NL and Ghana; NL in the lead, defining workable scope for programme.
Deployment agreement	 Draft by NL with extensive hands-on support, advice and guidance by Secretariat during whole drafting process; Lack of knowledge/capacity in host admin to work on legal aspects agreement; Draft Toolkit used by NL (very positive reactions NL on Toolkit, especially on fiscal conf., conflict of interest, and practical issues); Draft agreement accepted by Ghana without any comments.
Missions	• 3 missions 'on site' so far (each of 1 week) with email contacts in between; videoconferencing was tried (through Dutch Embassy);
Practical issues	 Communication with Ghana troublesome at times (slow, change of contact persons); NL experts took signed depl. agreement with them to Ghana and had it signed by GRA Commissioner before first TIWB-action; Oath of Secrecy was made before GRA Commissioner only after pressure Dutch Mof and experts;
Role Secretariat	 Limited regarding matchmaking role; no need for that role because contacts had been established already at early stage TIWB; Advice and support Secretariat to NL throughout whole process (specifically on ToR and deployment agreement). No advisory role Secretariat towards Ghanaian tax admin needed/required (GRA had passive role in process).
Costs and funding model	 All costs borne by NL (salaries experts, travel costs, per diem); NL offered this to host admin; "Development money" (Min. of foreign affairs/foreign trade) transferred to Dutch Tax admin and used to finance deployments; Commonly used model of funding in NL, based on existing relations Development/Foreign Affairs and Tax admin; Model functions well in practice and will be continued (info from NL MoF and Development/Foreign Affairs)
Constraints experienced in practice by experts	 Legislation: TP-legislation is overruled by other legislation, leading to non-taxation in certain cases; Policy: rulings in place in which lump sums have to be paid, not taking into account TP-legislation; Organisation: TP-returns are treated by various departments (LTD, TP-department, other); Practical matters: concept and features TIWB not fully known to host admin; capacity host admin (TP-knowledge, audit knowledge and skills of staff) lower than expected; significance and relevance Oath of Secrecy underestimated by host admin. Communication: host admin answers on questions late or sometimes non-existent.
Results/outcome	• Experts worked on risk assessment and case selection; no work on audit cases yet; positive feedback from GRA on co-operation.
Current situation	TIWB put on hold until January 2015 by NL next action foreseen January 2015.
Lessons learnt	 Info on general as well as specific features (relevance depl. agreement, fiscal secrecy, conflict. of interest, of TIWB to be extended; At initial stage scope of requested programme to be defined very clearly; direct 'hands-on' involvement Secretariat needed; At initial stage specific information needed on legislation, policy measures, organisation and (audit, capacity staff host admin.

Figure 4: December 2014 extract from an unofficial OECD document about the Netherlands-Ghana TIWB pilot project.¹⁴⁸

See explanation on page 17 under the title 'The pilot projects'

Pilot 1	Ghana – Netherlands
Subject	Transfer pricing (risk assessment, case selection, audit techniques)
Procedures followed	 Pilot established at early stage TIWB (existing contacts NL-Ghana); ToR set and agreed on bilaterally by NL and Ghana;
Deployment agreement	 Draft by NL with extensive hands-on support, advice and guidance by Secretariat; Draft Toolkit used by NL (positive reactions NL on Toolkit, especially on fiscal conf., conflict of interest, and practical issues); ToR and draft deployment agreement discussed between NL and Ghana and accepted.
Missions	• 3 missions 'on site' so far (each of 1 week) with email contacts in between; videoconferencing was tried (through Dutch Embassy);
Practical issues	 Communication with GRA sometimes difficult because of early change in contact persons; NL experts took signed deployment agreement to Ghana and GRA Commissioner signed it before first TIWB-action; Oath of Secrecy by Dutch experts was taken before GRA Commissioner;
Role Secretariat	 Limited regarding matchmaking role; contacts between parties had already been established at early stage TIWB; Advice and support by Secretariat to NL (specifically on ToR and deployment agreement – results have been used in Toolkit). No further specific advisory role Secretariat needed/required.
Costs and funding model	 All costs borne by NL (salaries experts, travel costs, per diem); Funding TIWB-programme by Dutch tax admin through Dutch Min. of Foreign affairs/Foreign trade Fund) (existing model of funding in NL)
Constraints experienced in practice by experts in host administration	 Legislation: TP-legislation in some cases overruled by other (fiscal) legislation, with risk of non-taxation; Policy: rulings in place based on which lump sums in taxes have to be paid, conflicting with TP-legislation; Organisation: TP-returns are treated by various departments (LTD, TP-department, other); Practical matters: concept and specific aspects in TIWB programme not quite clear to host admin; relatively low capacity host admin (TP-knowledge, audit knowledge and skills of staff); Communication: change in contact persons host admin hampered progress programme.
Results/outcome	 To date experts worked on risk assessment and case selection aspects; no work done on actual audit cases yet; Positive feedback from GRA on programme; noticeable effects in area of capacity building GRA audit staff.
Lessons learned	 Info on general as well as specific features (relevance depl. agreement, fiscal secrecy, conflict. of interest) of TIWB to be extended; Programme benefits from early definition of scope of programme by host administration (with Secretariat support); At initial stage TIWB specific and detailed information needed on legislation, policy measures, organisation and (audit) capacity staff of host admin in order to define scope of programme clearly, to determine level of audit assistance and locate the right experts.
Current situation	Next visit Dutch experts to GRA foreseen early 2015.

Potential intergovernmental conflicts of interest

Taking into account that strong concerns have been raised, including by the European Commission and a number of European Union member states, about the role of the Netherlands in facilitating tax avoidance of MNCs, as well as the fact that the Netherlands is home to several of the large corporations operating in Ghana, there are several risks of conflicts of interest when the Dutch government sends experts to get directly involved in the administration of taxation of MNCs in Ghana, including risk assessment, case selection and audit techniques.

Firstly, there is a risk that the Dutch government could have a focus on the interests of MNCs with ties to the Netherlands, including their interest in maximising profits, rather than the empowerment of the Ghana Revenue Authority to tax these MNCs. This could place the Dutch expert in a conflict of interest situation. Even in the case that company names were kept confidential from the Dutch expert, and all cases concerning Dutch companies were excluded from the training, there is still a potential conflict since the training would presumably be aimed at developing a method for auditing MNCs in general.

Secondly, another potential conflict of interest relates to the question of whether the Ghanaian tax authorities would receive training to question some of the tax structures which MNCs use in the Netherlands as potential causes of tax avoidance. This risk is particularly high in the case of the Netherlands, since this is a country that has a high number of potentially harmful tax practices.

The potential of the project

Assuming that the above mentioned issues regarding leadership and conflicts of interests have been, or could be, solved (which, especially in the case of conflicts of interest, will not always be the case), and to the extent the TIWB project could constitute a joint effort by the expert and the Ghanaian tax administration to ensure that MNCs pay their fair share of taxes in Ghana, this could have a positive impact, and bring important skills to Ghana. The issues of focus mentioned in the internal OECD documents include '[tax] rulings', which is a complicated issue with which developing countries could undoubtedly use support (if they even want to engage in this practice). However, while the Netherlands undoubtedly have more resources and knowledge on the issue of taxing MNCs, including tax rulings, it should be kept in mind that there is currently a dispute ongoing between the European Commission and the Netherlands, regarding a tax ruling issued in the Netherlands (see Box 1). It is thus important to keep a critical awareness about the exact skills that are transferred to Ghana.

The France-Senegal TWIB pilot project

The France – Senegal economic relationship

France is the largest investor in Senegal and, according to the French government, "our companies represent nearly 25% of the country's GDP and cover almost all sectors of the Senegalese economy." ¹⁴⁹ For example, the French oil company Total is the largest fuel distributor in Senegal, and in the telecommunications sector, France Telecom (Orange) is the largest shareholder of Sonatel. ¹⁵⁰ The French presence in Senegal also includes agriculture companies, mining, cement, construction, hotels, and insurance companies, among others. Two of the largest banks in Senegal – SGBS and BICIS – are subsidiaries of the French companies Société Générale and BNP Paribas respectively. ¹⁵¹

According to the embassy of France in Senegal, some of its functions in Senegal is that it "supports French companies established locally" and "pays special attention to all economic, financial and sectoral issues affecting the state, large French companies, financial operators..." ¹⁵² The French embassy notes about Senegal that: "Although the socio-economic indicators of the country are still very low (more than half the population still lives on less than \$ 2 a day), the business opportunities in some sectors (ICT, financial services, tourism, agriculture) or regions [...] remain attractive for foreign capital." ¹⁵³

Some of the large French MNCs which are present in Senegal have been the object of controversy due to their tax arrangements. For example, the large banks Société Générale and BNP Paribas were both a key focus of a tax analysis of French banks carried out by Oxfam France, CCFD and Caritas France. The report found that both banks declare more than 30% of their international profits in countries that can be considered tax havens.¹⁵⁴

Sonatel and its largest shareholder, France Telecom (Orange), were part of a media discussion in Senegal in February 2016, when Senegalese media wrote that the company had underreported its revenues by at least 400 billion CFA francs (XOF) over three years. 155 Sonatel denied the accusations, stating that "this information is unfounded [...] in accordance with applicable law, Sonatel [...] respects the legal obligation to bring to the attention of its shareholders and the tax authorities of the true financial information delivered transparently in a widely circulated annual report." 156 Sonatel has since started a legal procedure against the media outlet Le Quotidien. 157

The French tax system

The French tax system includes substantially fewer harmful tax practices than, for example, the Netherlands.¹⁵⁸ France also issues substantially less secret tax rulings, or 'sweetheart deals', to MNCs.¹⁵⁹

France does have a higher number of tax treaties with developing countries (including with Senegal) than, for example, the Netherlands, which means a lowering of the tax rates charged on money going from developing countries to France.¹⁶⁰

Senegal and taxation of multinational corporations

Senegal offers a range of tax incentives. As PwC notes: "There are a wide range of investment laws (i.e. negotiations with the government to set up a specific tax regime different from common rules) for investments greater than XOF 250 billion, including the mining code and the petroleum code, among others." ¹⁶¹ The losses due to tax incentives are difficult to estimate, but an ActionAid report points out that Senegal has previously, in 2008 and 2009, lost income equivalent to several percentage points of its GDP through tax incentives. ¹⁶²

Senegal's transfer pricing legislation was changed in 2013 and, according to EY, now complies with the OECD guidelines.¹⁶³

The TIWB Pilot Project

According to the internal OECD documents (Figures 5 and 6), the TIWB pilot project carried out by France and Senegal focused on the subject of exchange of information and how to use this in audit practice. Also in this case, the internal OECD documents give rise to questions, which are discussed below under the title 'Analysis'.

Figure 5: November 2014 extract from an unofficial OECD document from the France-Senegal TIWB pilot project. 164

See explanation on page 17 under the title 'The pilot projects'

Pilot 7	Sénégal – France
Subject	EOI in relation with audit practice MNE's (how to use EOI-requests in audit practice)
Procedures followed	 TIWB request based on existing contacts Sénégal – OECD - France; Because of existing relations between France and Sénégal procedures were taken care of by those parties; ToR drafted by DGFIP and discussed with Secretariat; Secr. advised on draft ToR, after which DGFIP adjusted ToR; ToR are finalised, defining scope of programme.
Deployment agreement	 Thus far only ToR were drafted by France, describing scope of the programme; no involvement of Sénégal in draft of ToR; No deployment agreement was drafted; ToR are sufficient according to parties involved; Secretariat commented on ToR and made suggestions to adjust the text (with elements like fiscal confidentiality, conflict of interest); Comments Secretariat on draft ToR that TIWB-experts will need to have access to tax payer files (= specific feature of TIWB-assistance); is now mentioned specifically in ToR, taking into account constraints of legislation in Sénégal and/or France, preventing foreign experts to have such access.
Missions	 No missions have taken place to date yet; first mission planned in November 2014; Expert of French Tax Administration has been appointed to conduct the TIWB-programme.
Role Secretariat	 Limited role on process, because parties did have existing relationships and matchmaking role by Secretariat was not needed; Advice and direct involvement Secretariat throughout whole process on content when required by parties;
Costs and funding model	Not known, because not mentioned in ToR;
Constraints experienced in practice by experts	 No complete understanding of TIWB-concept with parties; scope TIWB has to be audit-related, meaning EOI-programme in direct connection with audit cases (not to conduct TIWB-programme in with competent authority Sénégal); Aspects on fiscal confidentiality and conflict of interest were underestimated and needed to be highlighted in ToR; Legal restrictions in deploying foreign experts in tax administration Sénégal to be overcome; French and Sénégal legislation prohibits foreign nationals to work within the Sénégal Tax Administration (common feature for Francophone countries/legislation);
Results/outcome	No results/outcome pilot yet, because first mission has not yet taken place;
Lessons learnt	 Need to clarify concept of TIWB to all parties (TIWB about audit practice and audit related activities); At initial stage scope of requested programme to be defined very clearly; direct 'hands-on' involvement Secretariat needed; Secretariat has to explain and emphasise to all parties relevance of issues related to fiscal confidentiality and conflict of interest; Specific interest Secretariat for legal (im)possibilities to deploy foreign experts in tax administration host countries.

Figure 6: December 2014 extract from an unofficial OECD document from the France-Senegal TIWB pilot project.¹⁶⁵

See explanation on page 17 under the title 'The pilot projects'

Pilot 7	Sénégal – France
Subject	• EOI in relation with audit practice MNE's (how and when to apply EOI-requests in audit practice)
Procedures followed	 TIWB request resulted from existing contacts Senegal – France; Because of existing relations between France and Senegal procedures were taken care of by those parties (meetings and contacts DGFIP, MAEDI) with Secretariat in advisory role; ToR set between France and Senegal with Senegal in the leading role; Secretariat advised on draft ToR after which ToR were finalised by involved parties.
Deployment agreement	Setting the ToR for the TIWB-programme appeared to be sufficient to set out the scope; no deployment agreement required;
Missions	First mission by TIWB-experts done in early December 2014 by experts of French Tax Administration.
Role Secretariat	 Limited role on process, because parties did have existing relationships and matchmaking role by Secretariat was not needed; Advice Secretariat on ToR given as required by parties;
Costs and funding model	Not known, because not mentioned in ToR;
Constraints experienced in practice	 Defining scope TIWB took some time; EOI-programme in direct connection with audit cases (not to conduct TIWB-programme in/with competent authority Senegal and keep focus on audit related issues); Aspects on fiscal confidentiality and conflict of interest to be highlighted in ToR; Legal restrictions in deploying foreign experts in tax administration Senegal to be overcome;
Results/outcome	Positive meetings with Tax Administration Understanding of tax administration's organisational structure, legal issues related to confidentiality, status of Senegal's EoI aspects.
Lessons learned	 Need to clarify concept of TIWB (TIWB about audit practice and audit related activities); At initial stage scope of requested programme to be defined very clearly; direct 'hands-on' involvement Secretariat needed; Specific attention needed for issues related to fiscal confidentiality and conflict of interest; Specific interest Secretariat for legal (im)possibilities to deploy foreign experts in tax administrations host countries.
Current situation	 Initial scoping mission done in early December 2014. Next mission scheduled for January/February 2015 to follow up on EoI procedures based on audit needs.

Analysis

Leadership and scope of the project

The subject of the France-Senegal project differs from UK-Rwanda and Ghana-Netherlands since it focuses on exchange of information whereas the others focus on 'transfer pricing'. If the project had simply been about increasing the access to information of the Senegalese tax administration, this would have been a less sensitive situation compared with the situation where a French expert gets direct access to the tax administration and taxpayer files in Senegal. However, the first internal OECD document from November 2014 indicates that the '[OECD Secretariat] advised on draft [Terms of Reference], after which [the French Direction générale des Finance publiques] adjusted [the Terms of Reference]' and that comments by the Secretariat said that 'TIWB-experts will need to have access to tax payer files (= specific feature of TIWB-assistance); is now mentioned specifically in [Terms of Reference], taking into account constraints of legislation in Sénégal and/or France, preventing foreign experts to have such access'. The document furthermore indicates 'no involvement of Sénégal in [drafting of Terms of Reference]'. In the second internal document, from December 2014, this text is changed to say '[Terms of Reference] set between France and Senegal with Senegal in the leading role'. Therefore, it is important to note that the first internal document only covers a limited period of time (until November 2014). The first internal document also mentions that 'first mission has not yet taken place'. The first document does, however, raise questions about whether the host country Senegal, or even France, were actively requesting a project that involved giving foreign experts access to taxpayer files. The first internal document does indicate that the France-Senegal pilot project did not follow a process where the TIWB project with direct access to taxpayer files was initiated on the basis of a request from the host country.

Legal obstacles

Both of the internal OECD documents highlight that the direct access to taxpayer files gave rise to legal issues. Specifically, the documents mention that 'Legal restrictions in deploying foreign experts in tax administration Senegal to be overcome'. The first document further adds: 'French and Sénégal legislation prohibits foreign nationals to work within the Sénégal Tax Administration (common feature for Francophone countries/legislation'), and highlights that 'Specific interest Secretariat for legal (im)possibilities to deploy foreign experts in tax administrations host countries'.

It is of concern that there are indications that this process was not initiated after a request by the host country. It is also very concerning that the internal document mentions the legal restrictions in Senegal as an issue 'to be overcome'. Again, it should be noted that the internal documents reflect the situation as of December 2014, and that the situation could have changed since then.

Potential intergovernmental conflicts of interest

France has fewer potentially harmful tax practices than many other EU countries, and therefore the general risk that MNCs operating in Senegal use structures in France to avoid taxes is lower than in the case of, for example, the Netherlands. France is, however, the biggest investor in Senegal. Its companies are – according to the French government – active in almost all economic sectors in the country. Since it is also the stated policy of the French government to support its companies in Senegal, the French expert could end up in a conflict between the interests of helping French companies maximise their profits, and helping the Senegalese government increase its tax revenues. In the case where the Senegalese tax administration may begin a process to claim a larger part of the profit of a French company, France and Senegal could also end up in a conflict because the two governments might want to claim (and tax) the same profit. Since there is broad international agreement that the same profit should not be taxed by two governments, France and Senegal would in this case be caught in a dispute, and the country that decided to back down would lose corporate tax income. Even in the case where all French companies were exempted from the audits performed under the project, this conflict could still occur as the French expert would have influence on the general audit practices of Senegal, including the process of deciding which part of the profit to claim from MNCs. This situation can result in a potential conflict of interest for the French expert.

The potential of the project

Assuming that the above mentioned issues with leadership and conflicts of interests have been, or could be, solved (which, especially in the case of conflicts of interests, will not always be the case), and to the extent the TIWB project could constitute a joint effort by the expert and the Senegalese tax administration to ensure that MNCs pay their fair share of taxes in Senegal, this could have a positive impact, since France undoubtedly has more resources and knowledge on the issue of taxing MNCs than many developing countries, and this knowledge could be valuable to Senegal. According to information from the OECD, this project has also until now resulted in an additional USD 12.3 million in tax revenue in Senegal.

While it seems the project has a clear potential to improve (and already has improved) the tax administration of MNCs in Senegal, it is still important to note that the issue of how to tax MNCs is not always straightforward, and it is by no means certain that France has all of the right solutions on how to ensure that MNCs pay their fair share of taxes in Senegal.

Also in the case of France and Senegal, it is important to maintain a critical awareness about exactly what skills are transferred to Senegal.

Final comments, conclusion and recommendations

"Taxation is not a technical matter. It is pre-eminently a political and philosophical issue, perhaps the most important of all political issues."

Thomas Piketty¹⁶⁶

Developing countries need support...

As mentioned in the section 'The debate on capacity development and technical assistance on tax', more support has to be devoted to improving developing countries' capacity to collect taxes. This could increase their domestic resource mobilisation and reduce their dependence on foreign aid. As the tax expert Francis Weyzig affirms, "tax revenues are to be considered [a] more sustainable source of financing for development and generally have a more positive impact on developing country governance than aid." 167

Developing countries need to improve their capacity to tax and audit MNCs in order to increase their revenues and avoid the siphoning of resources. As Christian Aid points out, "tax administrators in many developing countries lack the resources needed to monitor trade between related enterprises in a way that will let them know when things are going wrong [whereas] MNCs have the resources to carry out complicated global transactions and procedures which tax administrations in developing countries may find difficult to trace." 168 It is crucial that revenue authorities in developing countries receive good guidance on all the alternatives available to strengthen taxation of MNCs.

...but the process must be led by the developing countries

On paper, there seems to be broad agreement that developing countries must have the ownership and leadership of their own development. This is, for example, a core element of the Principles for International Engagement in Supporting Developing Countries in Revenue Matters (see the chapter 'International Principles for Aid Effectiveness and Taxation' above), as well as the original aid effectiveness principles, ¹⁶⁹ both of which the OECD has played a central role in developing. It is also a central part of the TIWB Toolkit, ¹⁷⁰ which the OECD Secretariat has drafted.

However, the documentation presented in this report indicates that papers might not always match practice. In fact, as mentioned above, the internal OECD documents seem to indicate that neither Rwanda, Ghana nor Senegal were leading the initial development of the TIWB pilot projects in their countries, at least in the early phases when the concepts were hatched out. As mentioned above, it should be noted that the internal documents only cover a limited period – until the end of 2014 – and it could be the case that TWIB has resolved this issue since then. There are however also more recent examples of lack of developing country leadership on issues relating to international tax support. One example concerns the Addis Tax Initiative an international partnership of developed and developing countries to promote capacity building on tax issues. The initiative includes both France, UK and Netherlands, 171 with the latter two being among the countries initiating the partnership.¹⁷² The Independent Commission for Aid Impact (ICAI), in its recent report, highlighted that "[w]hile the Addis Tax Initiative is described as a partnership, the preparations leading to its launch were donor-led and top-down in nature, rather than consultative or based on an analysis of developing country needs. Progress in getting DFID partner countries to sign up to the Initiative has been slow (...) even through our survey suggests that there is appetite from developing countries for more donor support for domestic resource mobilisation." 173

Lastly, it might be a mere coincidence that all the experts deployed in the pilot projects discussed above have come from the donor country. In any case, it is important to ensure that developing countries have the freedom to choose the experts they find best for the job – in addition to deciding which jobs they would prioritise – and avoid a situation in which donations for TIWB projects come with the condition that the experts deployed should be from the donor country. In this context, it is positive that the TIWB Secretariat and Governance Board has a high awareness about the importance of offering South-South cooperation as part of TIWB. However, there are still signs that some of the support for TIWB might in fact be 'tied aid', where funding is linked to experts from a specific country (see the UK-Rwanda pilot project).

Respecting national legislation and interests is central

One reason why developing country leadership is key is the importance of ensuring that TIWB projects are fully in line with national interests and priorities. The donor country, or the country supplying the expert, might have opinions about taxation which are not necessarily shared by the public and government of the developing country. But tax assistance should never become a tool for foreigners to influence tax practices of developing countries based on their own agendas.

The fact that TIWB involves giving foreigners direct access to developing country tax administrations can furthermore create conflicts with national legislation or practices, which in some cases can prohibit this (see for example the case of the France-Senegal pilot project above). In this case, it is important that conflicts with national legislation are not simply seen as obstacles to be 'overcome', and that any changes to, or circumventions of, the legislation only take place after a transparent national democratic process has confirmed that this is indeed in the interest of the developing country.

Conflicts of interest must be avoided

It is concerning that DFID doesn't find that PwC's role as manager of the TIWB pilot project in Rwanda constitutes a conflict of interest. While the set-up has since been changed, the lack of recognition of the conflicts of interest increases the concern that something similar might reoccur in the future.

In the case where the expert being deployed is a current or former employee of a foreign country, and where this country has significant corporate interests in the developing country in which the project takes place (as is the case for all three cases discussed in this report), conflicts of interest can occur at several levels.

- Firstly, the expert might be faced with the conflict between the interest of ensuring that MNCs from his/ her country can earn high profits in the developing country, and of ensuring that the developing country tax administration is fully able to combat tax avoidance (which could mean that the MNCs in the country will have to pay a higher amount of taxes).
- Secondly, if the expert advises the developing country tax administration to claim larger parts of the profits of MNCs as subject to taxation in the developing country, it can result in less profits being available for taxation in his/her own country (because of the international principle that the same profit cannot be taxed twice).

3. And lastly, in the case where the expert's home country has harmful tax practices in its own legislation, the expert can be faced with the conflict between helping the developing country tax administration detect causes of corporate tax avoidance, and defending the legitimacy of his/her country's own policies.

While no conclusions can be drawn about whether the expert would in such a case prioritise the interests of his/her own employer or the interests of the host country, a conflicts of interest is, nonetheless, a problem that would put the expert in a difficult situation.

Confidentiality agreements and anonymisation of tax cases are tools which are currently used in TIWB cases. However, since TIWB projects are not simply aimed at solving a few specific cases, but rather on changing the developing country's general tax administration practices, the projects will also impact cases which are not handled as a direct part of the project, and thus confidentiality and anonymisation of cases will not necessarily remove the conflicts of interest. A more secure approach would be to clearly identify experts and actors that have a high risk of conflicts of interest (which could, for example, be experts that are current or former employees of companies engaged in tax advising for MNCs, or of governments that have a high amount of harmful tax practices in their legislation, and/or have a large amount of corporate interests in the developing country receiving the assistance). Although these experts and actors might indeed have a great knowledge about tax issues, they are not necessarily the best suited for being directly involved in TIWB projects. It is important that the risk of conflicts of interest is clearly and openly communicated to developing countries (both the government and the public), and that conflicts are avoided. In some cases, this would entail that some experts and actors should not be involved in TIWB projects at all.

One issue that has been raised as a potential problem for TIWB is that the availability of experts is limited, and that it might in some cases be difficult to find suitable experts to deploy. This situation could increase the risk that potential conflicts of interest are given lower priority than the objective of increasing the overall number of TIWB deployments.

National democratic governance must be a part of the process

It is important to recognise that taxation is a highly political issue, in developing countries as well as developed countries. So-called capacity development and technical assistance programmes should not alter the national tax system in developing countries (including the procedures for administrating tax collection from MNCs) without the necessary public and political debate at the national level. The issue of capacity development and technical assistance should also be anchored in a broader assessment of, and debate about, the challenges faced by the tax administrations in developing countries, as well as the possible solutions.

The issue of democratic participation is also included in the Principles for International Engagement in Supporting Developing Countries in Revenue Matters, which state that donors should "Encourage broad-based dialogue on revenue matters that includes civil society, business, and other stakeholders'. To be fully effective, such a national dialogue should not only be initiated after a TIWB project has been initiated, but also include the question of whether a TIWB project is desirable in the first place. Giving foreigners direct access to the tax administration in a developing country can be a controversial issue, and it is therefore important that national stakeholders are informed and allowed to participate in a dialogue about this.

At the international level it is also important that the broader public has access to information about the TIWB process, including deployments, proposals, actors involved, funding, and outcomes. In this context, it is positive that the TIWB Secretariat is in the process of launching a new website about the initiative, which will hopefully provide a significant increase in the level of transparency around which TIWB cases are planned and ongoing, as well as details of lessons learnt from the projects. In a best case scenario, the TIWB process would include independent evaluations of the projects with publicly accessible summaries.

Who will ensure that TIWB projects adhere to basic principles?

The points raised above lead to the central question: Who will ensure that TIWB projects adhere to certain basic principles, including aid effectiveness principles and avoidance of conflicts of interest? While the leadership of each individual TIWB project should be with the developing country receiving the assistance, adherence to basic principles should not be their responsibility alone. To ensure that all TIWB projects are fully in line with principles, a central, systematic, impartial mechanism fit for this purpose ought to be a part of TIWB. But where does this responsibility currently lie?

The role of the TIWB Secretariat

As mentioned in the section 'Overall results of the pilot phase (above), 'TIWB' includes both 'pure' TIWB projects, where the TIWB Secretariat is involved, as well as 'TIWB style projects', where the Secretariat is not directly involved. Especially for the latter, it will be difficult for the Secretariat to ensure that TIWB projects which they are not involved in, match basic principles. In this context, it might not be helpful that the Secretariat only has a quantitative target of reaching 100 deployments by 2019 (see the section 'Objective, mandate and goal'), but not a qualitative target (which could, for example, be to ensure that all TIWB projects comply with certain principles). This entails the risk that projects which have not been properly checked might still be carried forward with the focus on increasing the number of TIWB projects and achieving the quantitative target.

For the projects where the TIWB Secretariat is directly involved, there is also a question about which role the Secretariat will take. The pilot projects discussed above indicate that there were a number of problems with the pilot projects – at least in the early phase which is covered by the internal OECD documents presented. The documents indicate that in some cases (especially in relation to leadership), the Secretariat not only failed to address the issues, but to some extent might have been part of the problem (see the 'Analysis' of the France-Senegal pilot project, above). Again, the internal documents only cover a limited time period – until the end of 2014, and there have since been changes in the TIWB Secretariat. However, while managed jointly by the OECD and UNDP, the Secretariat remains hosted by the OECD, and there is still a risk that there will be a stronger focus on serving OECD Members, which are for the most part developed countries, than developing countries. Therefore, the role of the Secretariat in relation to supporting host countries and ensuring adherence to basic principles is an important issue to remain aware of. It is also important to ask the question: who guarantees that those TIWB projects, which the Secretariat is not directly involved in, comply with basic principles?

The role of the Governance Board

In theory, the Governance Board could take a role in relation to ensuring that basic principles are adhered to in all TIWB projects. However, as described in the section 'Secretariat, Management and Governance' (above), the role of the Governance Board currently appears to be more focused on promoting TIWB as such, rather than scrutinising plans and results and ensuring that the projects comply with the principles.

The role of the host country

If there is not a centralised mechanism to ensure that basic principles are respected (which would not be a good solution), and this task is instead left to the developing countries receiving the TIWB assistance, then it is absolutely vital that this is made clear to them; that they are in a strong leadership role in the project, and that they will be able to access materials about potential risks associated with TIWB projects. Although the TIWB Toolkit touches on some of the concerns related to confidentiality and conflicts of interest (see the section 'TIWB in practice' above), the coverage of the issue is only partial and, for example, does not contain the necessary detailed description of the central issues of potential conflicts between different country interests and between corporate tax advisors and tax administrations.

The role of the public

Regardless of where a mechanism to ensure adherence to basic principles is placed, public transparency will be vital in ensuring accountability and supporting such a mechanism. The information in the internal OECD documents provides a snapshot of TIWB pilot projects in the early phase. These kinds of documents would not normally be publicly available, and since both donor countries and host countries are often very cautious or even reluctant to discuss difficulties faced in cooperation projects, this provides a rare insight, which is nonetheless essential for the public's ability to ensure that TIWB projects meet basic principles.

It is positive that a new TIWB website will be launched soon, but it is also important that the information provided gives real insight into the TIWB projects and process, in order to allow the public real insight into the developments in their national tax system. Early information about upcoming TIWB projects, detailed project descriptions, updates and independent evaluations of TIWB projects with public summaries would also be an important tool to ensure accountability in the TIWB process, and to allow both developing countries and the public to learn from the experiences gained beyond the fact that tax revenues could have been increased.

Alternative ways that developed countries can help developing countries

Sending experts from their own countries to developing countries to participate directly in the actual tax administration of MNCs is not the only possible approach for developed countries to assist developing countries to collect taxes. Other types of capacity development and technical assistance, such as workshops or traineeships, can also have an impact and often entail less sensitivities, legal constraints, confidentiality requirements and risks of conflicts of interest. In fact, some of the projects highlighted as TIWB success stories were in fact based on workshops rather than sending experts into the tax administrations of developing countries (see the section 'Overall Results of the Pilot Phase' above).

Another obvious and very important way that developed countries can assist developing country tax administrators is by sharing the information they have about the MNCs. Today, even basic information about the economic activities and tax payments of MNCs is confidential and not accessible to the public.¹⁷⁴ Tax administrations can request information from each other, but developing countries often face great difficulties actually getting access to information. The same is the case for the secret tax rulings and other harmful tax practices that MNCs make use of to avoid taxes. 175 Since many of these structures and secret agreements are set up in developed countries, a lot of information, which could be extremely useful to developing country tax administrators, is located in developed countries. 'Tax Inspectors Without Borders' is, at the moment, mostly interpreted as an initiative to send people from countries with higher capacities to countries with lower capacities, but in theory the opposite could also be the case. If developing country tax administrators would be allowed to see behind the veil of secrecy which currently surrounds MNCs and their tax arrangements, they would be in a much better position to collect the right amount of taxes from these companies.

In addition to ensuring that developing countries are leading the design of projects in their own countries, it is also important that governments and other actors do not get so focused on the idea of sending foreign experts into developing country tax administrations and automatically exclude other approaches, which might be better suited and/or less problematic.

Last but not least, it is important to keep in mind that a lack of resources to employ and maintain staff is a general problem in developing countries. Rather than simply supporting training, donors could also provide developing countries with resources to employ more staff. Unless developing countries have the resources to tackle this underlying challenge, the training of tax administration staff might not have a long-lasting impact on the tax administrations in developing countries.

The need for global system change

TIWB focuses on tax administration based on existing laws and standards, but even in developed countries serious questions have been raised about whether the current global standards are actually fit for purpose. In the UK, fierce debate broke out when the government agreed a deal with Google to settle the company's taxes in the country. 176 Many found that the agreed tax payments were much too low, but a related concern is the fact that the standards are so unclear that the tax payments even became a case of bilateral negotiations between the government and the company in the first place. Linked to this concern is the fact that small developing countries will have difficulties getting good outcomes if they have to settle tax collections through negotiations with large MNCs, which can afford expensive lawyers and negotiators, and potentially assert strong pressure on the developing country to refrain from demanding substantial tax payments.

"Given recent scandals around Apple, Google, Amazon, and Starbucks not paying taxes in OECD countries themselves, what capacity is there to transfer? If there is, they may want to keep it at home and start using it." 177

Pooja Rangaprasad

Financial Transparency Coalition

Another key question is how the global standards have been developed. For the last 50 years, the OECD, and in some cases the G20, have negotiated global tax standards¹⁷⁸ while more than 100 developing countries have been excluded from the negotiations.¹⁷⁹ Repeated attempts by developing countries to establish an intergovernmental tax body under the United Nations, where all countries participate as equals, have been rejected by OECD members, who wanted to keep the decision-making at the OECD. 180 The result is a set of global standards which have been criticised for being difficult to apply in developing countries (and to some extent in developed countries too), and in some cases outright disadvantage developing countries. 181 This problem will not be solved by building the capacity of developing countries to implement the standards, and will remain an underlying problem for initiatives such as TIWB.

The role of the OECD

As mentioned in the section 'History of TIWB' (above), the project was run solely by the OECD during its pilot phase. While the OECD still today plays a central role in the management of TIWB, including as the host of the Secretariat and in relation to identifying experts available for TIWB projects, the project is now co-managed by the UNDP. Although this is an important improvement, the set-up still entails an overrepresentation of developed country interests. This is due to the fact that while the UN is accountable to all its members, both developed and developing countries, the OECD is accountable to its 35 member countries, of which the vast majority are developed countries. 180 The OECD's aim, as specified in the OECD's Convention, 181 is to promote the interests of its members, including to "achieve the highest sustainable economic growth and employment and a rising standard of living in Member countries, while maintaining financial stability, and thus to contribute to the development of the world economy."

The OECD also plays a number of different roles in the area of international taxation. As mentioned above (under 'The need for global system change'), the OECD has been the most central organisation in the development of the current global tax standards. The OECD also plays a central role in assistance projects aimed at introducing or updating tax legislation in developing countries (see above under 'The Broader Context'). With TIWB, the OECD now plays a central role in a project focused on the administration of tax laws in developing countries. While the OECD undoubtedly has substantial knowledge and expertise on international tax issues, and could play an important role in sharing such expertise with developing countries, it could be beneficial for developing countries to have a Secretariat which is independent of the OECD as the key manager of the TIWB project, in order to ensure that the initiative is managed in a neutral and unbiased way.

"As African civil society, we are surprised to see the strong involvement of European governments in our domestic tax administrations, including the presence of staff from European tax administrations inside the African tax administration offices. This raises the concern that our tax systems might be designed to match foreign interests, rather than the interests of the citizens of our countries"

Alvin Mosioma

Executive director, Tax Justice Network Africa¹⁸⁴

Conclusion

The internal OECD documents give a snapshot of TIWB pilot projects in the early phase, and indicate that sometimes, practice might not always match the principles and procedures written on paper. In particular, the internal documents raise serious questions about developing country leadership and conflicts of interest. This is information that would not normally be publicly available, and since both donor countries and host countries are often very cautious or even reluctant to discuss difficulties phased in cooperation projects, the internal documents provide a rare insight. These documents do, however, only cover a limited period of time – until the end of 2014. Since then the TIWB initiative has been further developed, and new structures and procedures introduced. It should therefore not be assumed that the situation at the end of 2014 reflects the situation today. In the TIWB Toolkit, there is a clear awareness of issues such as developing country leadership and avoiding conflicts of interest. However, TIWB still does not have a clear mechanism which can ensure that all projects included in the initiative comply with the defined standards. In the case of conflicts of interest, there is a dilemma between, on the one hand, limited availability of tax experts which can be deployed, and on the other hand the fact that some conflicts of interest are not easily resolvable (not even by anonymising the tax files). However, especially keeping in mind that the TIWB concept by design includes direct access to developing country tax administrations, which is a highly sensitive area, it is important to insist that conflicts must be avoided.

It should not be assumed that direct deployments of experts to developing country tax administrations is always the best solution. Important alternatives, such as less sensitive approaches, or not least the option of focusing resources on hiring and maintaining well-qualified staff in developing country tax administrations, should always remain on the table.

Lastly, public insight should not rely on unofficial internal documents, but rather it should be provided by increased transparency about the reality of TIWB projects. This will be vital for ensuring accountability of these projects in the future.

Recommendations

Building on these conclusions, this report makes the following recommendations regarding TIWB:

- Leadership and ownership of developing countries must be ensured. The developing country leadership must start at the project identification and development stage, and prevail until the end of the project, including when drawing conclusions about the outcome of the project.
- 2. Conflicts of interest must be avoided. Current or former employees of governments with a high amount of harmful tax practices and/or substantial corporate interests in the developing countries receiving the assistance have a high risk of conflicts of interest. So do MNCs that have a direct financial interest in tax matters of the recipient country, as well as international tax advisors that have MNCs as clients. While these actors and experts can provide input and views for the process, the TIWB projects must be managed and implemented by institutions and individuals who are free of conflicts of interest. A clear mechanism to identify and analyse risks of conflicts of interest would be a first important step in this process.
- 3. TIWB must have a clear mechanism to ensure that basic principles are respected. This is a necessity to ensure the TIWB projects match the principles on issues such as developing country leadership and avoiding conflicts of interest. This mechanism must apply to both the TIWB projects where the TIWB Secretariat is directly involved, as well as the other projects included in the initiative (including so-called 'TIWB-style projects').
- 4. TIWB should be managed by a neutral international secretariat. The OECD's mandate is to promote the interests of its members, which are primarily developed countries. Therefore, the current structure of TIWB, with joint management by the OECD and UNDP, and with the OECD hosting the TIWB Secretariat, still entails an overrepresentation of developed country interests in the management of the initiative.

Together with regional bodies such as ATAF and CIAT, the OECD can be part of the assistance since it has a lot of capacity and know-how, and the role of its members as donors is key, especially for least-developed countries. However, the recipient countries must be the drivers and the international secretariat must be located in a neutral, open and inclusive body where all countries participate on an equal footing. The most obvious solution is to make the TIWB initiative fully managed by the UN.

5. South-South cooperation must be strengthened.

This should include, but not be limited to, increased possibilities of using developing country experts for capacity development and technical assistance in other developing countries.

Regional co-operation should be reinforced and available to all developing countries who want to pursue it as a way to build their capacity, as well as to strengthen their internal co-operation on tax matters. A number of important regional bodies and institutions already exist, including for example ATAF, CIAT as well as the intergovernmental institutions such as the African Union, the UN's Economic Commission for Africa, Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, and the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. These types of regional cooperation must be strengthened to allow developing countries to support each other, as well as explore possibilities for regional solutions.

6. The matching of experts and recipient country should be based on recipient country demand and happen through a neutral international coordinating body, or through regional coordination mechanisms. Developing countries must be able to select the experts they would like to work with, even in the cases where this expert might not be included in the 'pool of experts' offered by the TIWB Secretariat.

TIWB donors should not be approaching potential recipient countries directly, and support for TIWB should never be tied to conditions about which experts to deploy. The international Secretariat must be neutral and able provide support to developing and developed countries alike.

7. Deployment of foreigners into developing country tax administrations should not be a default option. There are many ways in which developed countries can support developing countries to ensure a well-functioning tax administration of MNCs operating in developing countries. Deployment of foreign experts into the tax administrations will not always be the best and most suitable solution, and other approaches, including workshops, traineeships, and increased sharing of information with developing countries are alternative approaches which should also be considered. Furthermore, the value and possibilities for applying resources to hire and maintain qualified staff in developing country tax administrations should always be considered.

Tax Inspectors Without Borders should also include options for developing country tax administrators to travel to developed country tax administrations to gain knowledge and access to information which can increase their ability to ensure that MNCs pay a fair share of taxes in their countries.

8. Proposals for changes in the tax systems of developing countries (including tax administration) must fully respect democratic processes, be transparent and subject to public debate. Issues such as taxation of MNCs are not only highly technical, but also highly political. Therefore, it is important that changes to developing country tax systems (including tax administration) are not simply considered an unpolitical technical matter that can be decided in a confidential agreement between a donor and a recipient country government. Parliamentarians, journalists and stakeholders must be able to follow every step of the process. This must include national civil society in the country where the capacity development or technical assistance is taking place. The democratic mandate of parliaments must be respected and changes to the national tax system must happen through transparent democratic processes.

In order to ensure this, transparency is also key. Although there has been a high level of public communication about TIWB as an initiative, concrete information about the actual projects have been hard to obtain. It is important that the public is provided with up-to-date and specific information about each project, its origin, its objectives, key elements, implementation plan, its outcome and the role of each of the actors involved in the project. Through independent evaluations with public summaries, the results of TIWB projects can become an important part of the public debate and ensure accountability.

9. Capacity development and technical assistance on tax matters cannot stand alone. Direct tax assistance to developing countries must be supplemented by a reform of the global tax rules and governance system. Developing countries must have a seat at the table when global tax standards and rules are negotiated, in order to ensure that their interests and concerns are fully represented, and that the global tax system works for all countries. Therefore, an intergovernmental body on tax matters should be established under the UN.

Endnotes

- UNCTAD Investment and Enterprise Division. (2015). FDI, Tax and Development. The Fiscal Role of Multinational Enterprises: Towards Guidelines for Coherent International Tax and Investment Policies. Geneva. UNCTAD. May 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://unctad. org/en/PublicationsLibrary/wir2015_en.pdf
- UNCTAD. (2015). World Investment Report 2015: Reforming international investment governance: Accessed 3 October 2016: http://unctad.org/en/ pages/PublicationWebflyer.aspx?publicationid=1245
- OECD. (2014). Setting Global Standards: The OECD, the G20 and the International Tax Agenda, Forum for New Diplomacy. Keynote speech by Angel Gurria, OECD Secretary General. 6 November 2014, Paris, France. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/settingglobalstandardstheoecdtheg20andtheinternationaltaxagendaforumfornewdiplomacy.htm
- 4. The OECD's process on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting is an example of a process where more than 100 developing countries were excluded from the negotiations (for an overview of which countries were involved, see Eurodad. (2015). An assessment of the OECD/G20 BEPS outcomes: Failing to reach its objectives. Published 2 October 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/BEPSfacts). Another example is the OECD/G20 process on exchange of information (a description of the process can be found here: Markus Meinzer. (2012). The Creeping Futility of the Global Forum's Peer Reviews. Tax Justice Network. Published March 2012. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/GlobalForum2012-TJN-Briefing.pdf).
- The Guardian. (2015). Addis Ababa talks risk deadlock over UN agency for tax. Published 15 July 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016:http://www. theguardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2015/ jul/15/addis-ababa-talks-risk-deadlock-over-un-agency-for-tax-ffd3financing-for-development
- See for example: European Union. (2015). European Union and its Member States position on options for further strengthening the work and operational capacity of the committee of experts on international tax cooperation, with an emphasis on better integrating its work into the programme of work of the Council following its reform and effectively contributing to the financing for development process and the post-2015 agenda. 10 February 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/ esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/ICTM2015_EuropeanUnion.pdf; or Government of the United States. (2015). Statement to ECOSOC Special Meeting on International Cooperation in Tax Matters. Published 22 April 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/ uploads/2015/04/2015esm-usa.pdf; or Government of Japan. (2015). Statement by Mr. Takeshi Osuga, Ambassador, Deputy Director-General for International Cooperation and Global Issues. Published 13 April 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/ uploads/sites/2/2015/05/Japan_general_specific_20APR2015.pdf
- Addis Tax Initiative. (2015). Addis Tax Initiative. Briefing note. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.taxcompact.net/documents/Addis-Tax-Initiative_Briefing-Note.pdf
- OECD. (2015). BEPS 2015 Final Reports. Website. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/aggressive/beps-2015-final-reports.htm
- ActionAid. (2015). Levelling Up: Ensuring a Fairer Share of Corporate Tax for Developing Countries. Published July 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: https://www.actionaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/ levelling up final.pdf
- OECD Task Force on Tax and Development. (2015). Mobilising domestic resources through tackling base erosion and profit shifting. Briefing from the 5th plenary meeting of the Task Force on Tax and Development, 2-3 November 2015: Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.slideshare. net/OECDtax/beps-5th-plenary-meeting-of-the-task-force-on-tax-anddevelopment
- OECD. (2016). Implementing the BEPS Package. Building an inclusive framework. Published February 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: https:// www.oecd.org/tax/flyer-implementing-the-beps-package-building-aninclusive-framework.pdf
- Meinzer, Markus. (2012). The Creeping Futility of the Global Forum's Peer Reviews. Tax Justice Network, March 2012. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/GlobalForum2012-TJN-Briefing.pdf

- 13. See for example G20. (2013). Tax annex to the Saint Petersburg G20 leaders declaration. December 2013. Accessed on 3 October 2016: https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/image/files/g-20taxannex.pdf; OECD. (2016). Tax Administrations and Capacity Building A Collective Challenge. Published 13 May, 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-administrations-and-capacity-building-9789264256637-en.htm; UN. (2015). Addis Ababa Action Agenda. Outcome document of the Financing for Development Summit in Addis Ababa, 13-16 July 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/AAAA_Outcome.pdf
- 14. OECD Tax and Development Programme. (No date). Developing Capacity in Transfer Pricing. Paris. OECD. Hardcopy. p. 4.
- 15. See more information in the chapter 'History of TIWB' in this report
- G20. (2013). Russia G20 Leader's Declaration. Saint Petersburg. G20. December 2013. p. 13. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.mofa. go.jp/files/000013493.pdf
- G8. (2013). Final Declaration G8 Lough Erne. Lough Erne. G8. June 2013.
 p. 7. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.francophonie.org/IMG/pdf/lough_erne_2013_g8_leaders_communique.pdf
- High Level Panel on Illicit Financial Flows from Africa. (2015). Track It! Stop It! Get It! Illicit Financial Flows. AU/ECA Conference of Ministers of Finance, Planning and Economic Development. p. 72. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.uneca.org/sites/default/files/PublicationFiles/illicit_ financial_flows_why_africa_needs.pdf
- Clark, Helen. (2015). Helen Clark: Speech at Launch of UNDP-OECD Collaboration on 'Tax Inspectors Without Borders'. UNDP. July 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/ presscenter/speeches/2015/07/13/helen-clark-speech-at-launch-ofundp-oecd-collaboration-on-tax-inspectors-without-borders-.html.
- OECD. (2005). OECD Development Co-operation Report 2005. Paris.
 OECD. p. 112. Accessed 3 October 2016. http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/development/development-co-operation-report-2005_dcr-2005-en
- United Nations Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters. (2010). Overview of Cooperation on Capacity Building in Taxation. Geneva. UN. October 2010. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/6STM_OverviewCapacityBldg.pdf
- 22. See for example World Bank Group. (2015). World Bank and the IMF Launch Joint Initiative to Support Developing Countries in Strengthening Tax Systems. Press release. Published 10 July 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2015/07/10/world-bank-and-the-imf-launch-joint-initiative-to-support-developing-countries-in-strengthening-tax-systems
- United Nations Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters. (2010). Overview of Cooperation on Capacity Building in Taxation. Geneva. UN. October 2010. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/6STM_OverviewCapacityBldg.pdf
- 24. 'Journalists' is not included as a category in the document, but they are providing training on tax issues. See for example the Illicit Finance Journalism Programme by the Centre of Investigative Journalism.
- Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH. (2010). Mapping Survey. Tax and Development. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.taxcompact.net/documents/ITC_2010-05_Mapping-Survey_ Taxation-and-Development.pdf
- 26. Ibid
- OECD. (2006). The Challenge of Capacity Development. Working towards Good Practice. DAC Guidelines and Reference Series. Paris. OECD. p. 12. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/ capacitybuilding/pdf/DAC_paper_final.pdf
- Sepúlveda Carmona, Magdalena. (2014). Report of the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, Magdalena Sepúlveda Carmona. UN General Assembly. 22 May 2014. p. 25. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Poverty/Pages/AnnualReports.aspx
- UN Secretary General. (2014). The Road to Dignity by 2030: Ending Poverty, Transforming All Lives and Protecting the Planet. Synthesis Report of the Secretary-General on the Post-2015 Agenda. United Nations. 4 December 2014. p. 23. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www. un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/69/700&Lang=E
- G20. (2013). Russia G20 Leader's Declaration. Saint Petersburg. G20.
 December 2013. p. 13. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.mofa.go.jp/files/000013493.pdf

- IMF. (2011). Revenue Mobilization in Developing Countries. Published 8
 March 2011. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2011/030811.pdf
- 32. High Level Panel on Illicit Financial Flows from Africa. op. cit. p. 72.
- Save the Children. (2014). Tackling Tax and Saving Lives. Children, Tax and Financing for Development. London. Save the Children. p. 24. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/ docs/Tackling_Tax_and_Saving_Lives.pdf
- McNair, David; Dottey, Rebecca and Cobham, Alex. (2010). Transfer Pricing, and the Taxing Rights of Developing Countries. Tax Justice Network Africa Research Conference. Nairobi. Christian Aid. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.christianaid.org.uk/images/CA_OP_Taxing_ Rights.pdf
- Greenhill, Romilly. (2005). Making Technical Assistance Work. REAL AID. London. ActionAid. p. 3. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.actionaid. org/sites/files/actionaid/real aid 2.pdf
- 36. TJN. (2011). Tax Justice Network: Tax Advisers Without Borders an Invitation. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://taxjustice.blogspot.be/2011/02/tax-advisers-without-borders-invitation.html
- Ruiz, Marta; Sharpe, Rachel and Romero, Maria José (2011). Approaches and Impacts. IFI Tax Policy in Developing Countries. Eurodad, ActionAid. p. 19. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://eurodad.org/4564/
- IMF IEO. (2005). Evaluation of the Technical Assistance Provided by the International Monetary Fund. Evaluation. Washington DC. IMF. 31 January 2005. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.imf.org/External/np/ ieo/2005/ta/eng/pdf/013105a.pdf.
- IMF. (2011). Revenue Mobilization in Developing Countries. Published 8
 March 2011. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2011/030811.pdf
- 40. High Level Panel on Illicit Financial Flows from Africa. op. cit. p. 60.
- 41. Waris, Attiya. (2013). Taxing Intra-Company Transfers: the Law and its application in Rwanda. Bulletin for International Taxation 67. No.12, p. 5.
- High-level Forum on Aid Effectiveness. (2005). Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. Adopted in Paris, France, 2 March 2005. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/34428351.pdf
- GPEDC. (2016). Update on global partnership initiatives reporting December 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://effectivecooperation. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Annex-%E2%80%93-List-ofresponses-%E2%80%93-Update-on-Global-Partnership-Initiatives-January-2016.pdf
- 44. OECD Tax and Development. (2013). Draft principles for international engagement in supporting developing countries in revenue matters. May 2013. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-global/ principles_for_international_engagement_May2013.pdf
- Statement by Pascal Saint-Amans. (2016). OECD Global Forum on Development 2016 - Afternoon Sessions. The OECD Development Centre. Online video. 2:22:00. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZTOfPeCrH2U
- 46. The Transfer Pricing capacity building program is partly done in conjunction jointly with the World Bank Group, Centre de rencontre des administrations fiscales and the African Tax Administration Forum. Source: Email to Eurodad from OECD and UNDP on 7 September 2016.
- OECD Tax and Development Programme. Developing Capacity in Transfer Pricing. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/taxglobal/developing-capacity-in-transfer-pricing-flyer.pdf
- OECD Tax and Development Programme. (No date). Developing capacity in transfer pricing. Flyer. Available on the OECD website. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/developingcapacity-in-transfer-pricing-flyer.pdf
- OECD and UNDP. (2016). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. An OECD/UNDP Partnership to tackle domestic resource mobilisation with a practical hands-on approach. Concept note. Accessed 30 September 2016: http:// www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-conceptnote ndf
- OECD. (2016). Transfer Pricing. OECD website, including links to the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations (2010) and the OECD reports on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (2015). Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/ transfer-pricing/

- 51. PwC. (2014). Advance Pricing Agreements. Removing uncertainty from transfer pricing. Accessed 30 September 2016: https://www.pwc.co.uk/tax/assets/if100-final-apa-flyer.pdf
- Bowers, Simon. (2016). Google's tax deal with the UK: key questions answered. Published in The Guardian, 29 January 2016. Accessed 30 September 2016: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2016/jan/29/ googles-tax-deal-with-the-uk-key-questions-answered-chancellor-taxes
- TJN. (2012). Tax Justice Network: Tax Advisers without Borders Major Progress. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://taxjustice.blogspot. co.uk/2012/05/tax-advisers-without-borders-progress.html
- 54. Christensen, John. (2015). TJN and TIWB. 26 January 2015. Unpublished.
- 55. Fernandez, Jose W. (2012). Transparency and Partnership in the Transitioning Economies of the Arab Spring. Transparency and Partnership: Transitioning Arab Economies. Remarks by Jose W. Fernandez, Assistant Secretary, Bureau of Economic and Business Affairs. Tunis. 30 May 2012. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www. state.gov/e/eb/rls/rm/2012/191893.htm
- OECD. (2012). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. Moving Forward with Implementation. OECD Task Force Plenary Meeting. Cape Town. May 2012. Presentation. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-global/tf-on-td-sess-four-oecd.pdf
- 57. OECD Task Force on Tax and Development. (2013). Final Report on the Feasibility Study into the Tax Inspectors Without Borders Initiative. OECD. Paris, June 2013. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ tax/tax-global/TIWB_feasibility_study.pdf
- OECD and UNDP. (2015). TIWB. An OECD-UNDP Partnership to Tackle Domestic Resource Mobilisation with a Practical Hands-on Approach. July 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-side-events-third-UN-conference-on-financing-for-development-TIWB-concept-note.pdf
- OECD Tax and Development Programme. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders Toolkit. OECD. Paris, 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http:// www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-toolkit.pdf
- 60. OECD. (2015). Co-chair statement on the meeting of the OECD task force on tax and development. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/fifth-task-force-tax-development-co-chair-statement.pdf
- 61. Written response sent from UNDP to Eurodad on 24 February 2016.
- 62. OECD Task Force on Tax and Development. (2013). Final Report on the Feasibility Study into the Tax Inspectors Without Borders Initiative. OECD. Paris, June 2013. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/TIWB_feasibility_study.pdf
- 63. OECD and UNDP. (2016). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. A learning by doing approach to tax audit assistance. Summary. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-summary.pdf
- 64. Written response sent from UNDP to Eurodad on 24 February 2016.
- 65. OECD. (2016). Head of joint OECD/UNDP Tax Inspectors Without Borders initiative appointed James Karanja. Published 21 March 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/head-of-joint-oecd-undp-tax-inspectors-without-borders-initiative-appointed-james-karanja.htm
- 66. James Kariuki. (2016). Kenyan picked to head global tax administration initiative. Business Daily Africa. Published 30 March 2016: http:// www.businessdailyafrica.com/Kenyan-picked-to-head-OECD-taxadministration-initiative/-/539546/3139418/-/jo0aez/-/index.html
- 67. OECD and UNDP. (2016). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. An OECD/UNDP Partnership to tackle domestic resource mobilisation with a practical handson approach. Concept note. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-concept-note.pdf
- 68. Since October 2015, CCFD is no longer part of the TIWB Advisory Board. Source: CCFD-Terre Solidaire.
- 69. OECD. (2013). Fourth Plenary Meeting of the OECD Task Force on Tax and Development. Co-Chairs Statement. October 2013. Seoul, South Korea. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.slideshare.net/DrLendySpires Foundation/taskforce-taxdevelopmentkoreaoutcomestatement
- 70. OECD and UNDP. (2016). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. Governing Board. Terms of Reference. Unpublished.
- 71. OECD and UNDP. (2016). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. An OECD/UNDP Partnership to tackle domestic resource mobilisation with a practical handson approach. Concept note. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-concept-note.pdf

- 72. Email from OECD to Eurodad sent on 10 June 2016.
- 73. OECD and UNDP. (2016). Tax Inspectors Without Borders. An OECD/UNDP Partnership to tackle domestic resource mobilisation with a practical handson approach. Concept note. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-concept-note.pdf
- 74. OECD Tax and Development Programme. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders Toolkit. OECD. Paris, 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-toolkit.pdf
- 75. OECD and UNDP. Tax Inspectors Without Borders Questions and Answers. Accessed on 30 September9 June 2016: https://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-questions-and-answers.pdf
- OECD and UNDP. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders An OECD-UNDP partnership to tackle domestic resource mobilisation with a practical hands-on approach. Published July 2015: https://www.oecd.org/dac/ financing-sustainable-development/third-UN-conference-on-financingfor-development-addis-tax-inspectors-flyer.pdf
- OECD Tax and Development Programme. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders Toolkit. OECD. Paris, 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http:// www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-toolkit.pdf
- 78. OECD Tax and Development Programme. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders Toolkit. OECD. Paris, 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-toolkit.pdf
- OECD Tax and Development Programme. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders Toolkit. OECD. Paris, 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http:// www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-toolkit.pdf
- 80. OECD. (2014). Secretariat Review of the Tax Inspectors Without Borders (TIWB) Initiative. Internal non-published document. See also explanation under the chapter 'The Pilot Projects'.
- 81. The update on the projects was provided by OECD and UNDP in an email sent to Eurodad on 7 September 2016.
- 82. The OECD and UNDP note this pilot project as 'yet to commence'. However, documentation from iFUSE, a body which was managing the pilot project in its early phase (see below under 'the UK-Rwanda TIWB pilot project'), shows that deployments were conducted in 2014 as part of Tax Inspectors Without Borders. See iFUSE. (2014). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Building a Better Investment Climate. Year 3 Quarter 1 Report (April to June 2014). Published July 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/360723/IFUSE-year3-quarter1-report.pdf The project therefore seems to be 'on hold', rather than 'yet to commence'
- 83. Written response sent from UNDP to Eurodad on 24 February 2016.
- 84. OECD. (2016). Head of joint OECD/UNDP Tax Inspectors Without Borders initiative appointed James Karanja. Published 21 March 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/head-of-joint-oecd-undp-tax-inspectors-without-borders-initiative-appointed-james-karanja.htm
- 85. Email sent to Eurodad from OECD on 10 June 2016
- 86. OECD Tax and Development Programme. (No date). Developing capacity in transfer pricing. Flyer. Available on the OECD website. Accessed September 30 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/developing-capacity-in-transfer-pricing-flyer.pdf
- 87. Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters. (2012). Secretariat note: Transfer Pricing: Technical Assistance and Capacity Building Resources. Published 11 October 2012. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/tax/eighthsession/CRP14-TransferPricing-capacity-building.pdf
- 88. DFID. (2014). Tax in Developing Countries: Increasing Resources for Development Government Update on Implementation of the Recommendations. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/international-development/GovernmentupdateIDCreportonTaxinDevelopingCountries.pdf
- 89. UK Government. (2014). Tax in Developing Countries: Increasing Resources for Development: Government update on implementation of the recommendations. Accessed on 30 September 2016: http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/international-development/GovernmentupdateIDCreportonTaxinDevelopingCountries.pdf
- 90. Waris, Attiya. (2013). Taxing Intra-Company Transfers: the Law and its application in Rwanda. Bulletin for International Taxation 67. No.12.
- 91. UK Government, Foreign & Commonwealth Office. (2015). Guidance UK-Rwanda commercial relationship. Website, published 4 November 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rwanda-business-quide/uk-rwanda-commercial-relationship

- 92. iFUSE. (2014). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Building a Better Investment Climate. Year 2 Quarter 4. January to March 2014. Published April 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/316711/IFUSE-year2-quarter4-report.pdf
- 93. iFUSE. (2014). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Building a Better Investment Climate. Year 3 Quarter 1 Report (April to June 2014). Published July 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/360723/IFUSE-year3-quarter1-report.pdf
- Ramboll Management Consulting and Corit Advisory (2016), Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators. Commissioned by the European Commission. Working Paper no 61, 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/ documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_papers/taxation_ paper 61.pdf
- Eurodad. (2015). 50 Shades of Tax Dodging The EU's role in supporting an unjust global tax system. Published November 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/files/pdf/1546494-fifty-shades-of-tax-dodging-the-eu-s-role-in-supporting-an-unjust-global-tax-system.pdf
- Tax Justice Network. (2015). Financial Secrecy Index. Narrative Report on United Kingdom. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www. financialsecrecyindex.com/PDF/UnitedKingdom.pdf
- Antony Seely. (2016). Corporate tax reform (2010-16). Briefing paper Number 05945. Published by the House of Commons Library, 25 July 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://researchbriefings.files. parliament.uk/documents/SN05945/SN05945.pdf
- Independent Commission for Aid Impact. (2016). UK aid's contribution to tackling tax avoidance and evasion. Published 27 September 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://icai.independent.gov.uk/html-report/uk-aids-contribution-to-tackling-tax-avoidance-and-evasion/
- Eurodad. (2015). 50 Shades of Tax Dodging The EU's role in supporting an unjust global tax system. Published November 2015. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/files/pdf/1546494-fifty-shades-of-taxdodging-the-eu-s-role-in-supporting-an-unjust-global-tax-system.pdf
- 100. PwC. (2016). Individual Foreign tax relief and tax treaties. Website, last reviewed 11 July 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://taxsummaries. pwc.com/uk/taxsummaries/wwts.nsf/ID/Rwanda-Individual-Foreigntax-relief-and-tax-treaties
- 101. PwC. (2016). Rwanda. Corporate Group taxation. Website, last reviewed 11 July 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://taxsummaries.pwc.com/ uk/taxsummaries/wwts.nsf/ID/Rwanda-Corporate-Group-taxation
- 102. ActionAid. (2016). Still racing toward the bottom? Published June 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.actionaid.org/sites/files/actionaid/corporate_tax_incentives_in_east_africa_to_print.pdf
- 103. Mwai, Collins. (2016). Is Rwanda giving too much in tax incentives. Published in The New Times, 8 June 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.newtimes.co.rw/section/article/2016-06-08/200591/
- 104. DFID. (2011). Intervention Summary: iFUSE The Investment Facility for Utilising Specialist Expertise (3716550). Accessed on 30 September 2016: http://iati.dfid.gov.uk/iati_documents/3716550.odt
- 105. iFUSE. (2011). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Bulding a Better Investment Climate. FAQs. iFUSE. Accessed 30 September 2016: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/328295/IFUSE-FAQs-July-2014.pdf
- 106. iFUSE. (2014). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Building a Better Investment Climate. 2014. Accessed 30 September 2016: https:// www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/328288/IFUSE-flyer-july2014.pdf
- 107. Ibid. As iFUSE states, "governments which need targeted world-class assistance to improve the environment for private sector investment, have access to a rapid and efficient mechanism managed by PwC for securing that support (...) iFUSE promotes a genuinely cross-Whitehall approach to supporting improved investment climate overseas which links directly with the UK prosperity agenda. Business environment improvement in partner countries creates more opportunities for international business, including UK ones, to invest and trade overseas".
- 108. iFUSE. (2014). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Building a Better Investment Climate. 2014. Accessed 30 September 2016: https:// www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/328288/IFUSE-flyer-july2014.pdf

- 109. iFUSE. (2014). iFUSE Paving the Way for Business. Building a Better Investment Climate. Year 2 Quarter 4. January to March 2014. Accessed 30 September 2016. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/316711/IFUSE-year2-quarter4-report.pdf
- 110. The main acronyms mentioned in this Figure are included in the List of Acronyms on page 3.
- 111. The main acronyms mentioned in this Figure are included in the List of Acronyms on page 3.
- 112. iFUSE. Frequently Asked Questions. Accessed 30 September 2016: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/186918/IFUSE-FAQS.pdf
- 113. More, Sinead. (2016). PwC accused of conflict of interest. Economia. Published 22 March 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://economia.icaew.com/news/march-2016/pwc-accused-of-conflict-of-interest
- 114. The Annual Reviews from iFUSE show that iFUSE did not work on tax matters in 2015. See Development Tracker. (No date). Investment Facility for UK Specialist Expertise (iFUSE). Accessed on 3 October 2016: https:// devtracker.dfid.gov.uk/projects/GB-1-202648/documents
- Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. (2015). Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/34428351.pdf
- 116. PwC. (2015-16). Global Annual Review 2015. Revenues. PwC. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.pwc.com/gx/en/about/global-annual-review-2015/revenues.html
- 117. Jones, Adam. (2011). Auditors Criticised for Role in Financial Crisis. Financial Times. Published 30 March 2011. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/358b366e-59fa-11e0-ba8d-00144feab49a.html#axzz3VJsdmLeu
- 118. Hudson, Michael; Chavkin, Sasha; and Mos, Bart. (2014). Big 4 Audit Firms Play Big Role in Offshore Murk. International Consortium of Investigative Journalists. Published 5 November 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.icij.org/project/luxembourg-leaks/big-4-audit-firms-play-big-role-offshore-murk
- 119. Goodley, Simon. (2014). PriceWaterhouseCoopers Chief Kevin Nicholson Denies Lying over Tax Deals. The Guardian. Published 8 December 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.theguardian.com/business/2014/dec/08/pwc-kevin-nicholson-tax-scheme-mps-luxembourg
- 120. Wayne, Leslie et al. (2014). Leaked Documents Expose Global Companies' Secret Tax Deals in Luxembourg. International Consortium of Investigative Journalists. Accessed 30 September 2016: http://www.icij.org/project/luxembourg-leaks/leaked-documents-expose-global-companies-secret-tax-deals-luxembourg
- 121. See for example ICIJ. (2014). 'Lux Leaks' Revelations Bring Swift Response Around World. Published 6 November 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.icij.org/project/luxembourg-leaks/lux-leaks-revelations-bring-swift-response-around-world
- 122. Crisp, James. (2014). Commission Urged to Fire Auditors PwC from Bank Transparency Study. EurActiv. Brussels. Published 24 July 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.euractiv.com/sections/euro-finance/commission-urged-fire-pwc-auditors-bank-transparency-study-303243
- 123. PwC. (2011). Transfer Pricing and Developing Countries. European Commission. Published June 2011. p.41. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/documents/common/publications/studies/transfer_pricing_dev_countries.pdf
- 124. Xinhua. (2014). Business decry 'unharmonised tax policy' on imported services. Published on 21 October 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.trademarkea.com/news/businesses-decry-unharmonisedtax-policy-on-imported-services/
- 125. More, Sinead. (2016). PwC accused of conflict of interest. Economia. Published 22 March 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://economia.icaew.com/news/march-2016/pwc-accused-of-conflict-of-interest
- 126. Rowena Mason, Matthew Weaver and Stephanie Kirchgaessner. (2016). George Osborne insists Google's UK tax deal is 'major success'. Published in The Guardian, 28 January 2016. Accessed 4 October 2016: https:// www.theguardian.com/technology/2016/jan/28/george-osbornerepeats-claim-that-googles-uk-tax-deal-is-major-success
- 127. Independent Commission for Aid Impact. (2016). UK aid's contribution to tackling tax avoidance and evasion. Published 27 September 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://icai.independent.gov.uk/html-report/uk-aids-contribution-to-tackling-tax-avoidance-and-evasion/

- 128. Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands Accra. (2014). Multi-Annual Strategic Plan, Update 2014-2017. Ghana. January 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://ghana.nlembassy.org/binaries/content/assets/postenweb/g/ghana/embassy-of-the-kingdom-of-the-netherlands-in-accra/import/products_and_services/development_cooperation/ghanamulti-annual-strategic-plan-2014-2017.pdf
- 129. Elston, Leigh. (2015). GE to Sign up Shell as Supplier for Ghana LNG. Interfax Global Energy. February 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://interfaxenergy.com/gasdaily/article/15156/ge-to-sign-up-shell-as-supplier-for-ghana-lng.
- 130. ActionAid. (2012). Calling Time: Why Sabmiller should stop dodging taxes in Africa. Accessed on 3 October 2016: https://www.actionaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/doc_lib/calling_time_on_tax_avoidance.pdf
- 131. Ramboll Management Consulting and Corit Advisory (2016), Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators. Commissioned by the European Commission. Working Paper no 61, 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/ documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_papers/taxation_ paper_61.pdf
- 132. Oxfam Novib. (2016). The Netherlands: a tax haven. Continuing its contribution to the corporate tax race to the bottom. 24 May 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: https://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam. org/files/file_attachments/netherlands-taxhaven.pdf
- 133. Cortés Saenz, Hernán. (2016). Sweetheart tax deals trending in the EU. Published by Eurodad, 25 February 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/SweetheartTaxDealsTrendingInEU
- 134. European Commission. (2015).)SA.38374 State aid implemented by the Netherlands to Starbucks European Commission website. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://ec.europa.eu/competition/elojade/isef/case_details.cfm?proc_code=3_SA_38374
- 135. InfoCuria. (2015). T—760/15 Netherlands v Commission. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste. jsf?language=en&num=T-760-15
- 136. Eurodad. Op cit.
- 137. **Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands Accra. (2014). Multi-Annual Strategic Plan, Update 2014-2017. Ghana. January 2014. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://ghana.nlembassy.org/binaries/content/assets/postenweb/g/ghana/embassy-of-the-kingdom-of-the-netherlands-in-accra/import/products_and_services/development_cooperation/ghanamulti-annual-strategic-plan-2014-2017.pdf
- 138. Rijksoverheid. (2016). Onderhandelingen belastingverdragen in eerste halfjaar 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/nieuws/2014/12/10/onderhandelingen-belastingverdragen-in-2015.html
- 139. Eurodad. Op cit.
- 140. ActionAid Ghana. (2014). Investment Incentives in Ghana. The Cost to Socio-Economic Development. Accra. ActionAid Ghana. February 2014. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.actionaid.org/sites/ files/actionaid/investment-tax_incentives_in_ghana_-_an_actionaid_ research_report.pdf
- 141. Ibid.
- 142. Ibid
- 143. OECD Tax and Development Programme. "Developing Capacity in Transfer Pricing". Hardcopy.
- 144. Ghana Revenue Authority. (2013). Practice note on transfer pricing regulations 2012 (L.I 2188). Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.drtp. ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Ghana_Transfer_pricing_regulations_-2012L.I2188.pdf
- 145. OECD. (2013). Transfer Pricing: Progress and Next Steps. Report to the 4th Plenary Meeting of the OECD Task Force on Tax and Development. 30-31 October 2013, Seoul, Korea. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-global/tf-on-td-sess-five-transferpricing.pdf
- 146. Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. (2015). Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/34428351.pdf
- 147. The main acronyms mentioned in this Figure are included in the List of Acronyms on page 3.
- 148. The main acronyms mentioned in this Figure are included in the List of Acronyms on page 3.

- 149. Ambassade de France au Senegal. (2014). Les investissements directs étrangers au Sénégal. Published June 2014. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.diplomatie.gouv.fr/fr/IMG/pdf/SENEGAL_-_Les_ investissements_directs_etrangers_cle0a81b8.pdf
- 150. Ambassade de France à Dakar. (2016). Le Service Economique (SE). Website, last modified 14 January 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.ambafrance-sn.org/Le-Service-Economique-Regional-SER and Ambassade de France au Senegal. (2014). Les investissements directs étrangers au Sénégal. Published June 2014. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.diplomatie.gouv.fr/fr/MG/pdf/SENEGAL_-_Les_investissements_directs_etrangers_cle0a81b8.pdf
- 151. Ambassade de France à Dakar. op cit. (2016).
- 152. Ibic
- 153. Ambassade de France au Senegal. Op cit. (2014).
- 154. Aubry, Manon; Dauphin, Thomas; Watrinet, Lucie. (2016). French banks' activities in tax havens. Published March 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016; https://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/following_the_ money_final_english.pdf
- 155. Le Quotidien. (2016). Fausses déclarations de recettes, licence 4G, externalisation: Orange pourrie La compagnie a sous-évalué ses recettes sur le mobile, d'au moins 400 milliards en 3 ans. Published 1 February 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.lequotidien.sn/index.php/economie/fausses-declarations-de-recettes-licence-4g-externalisation-orange-pourrie-la-compagnie-a-sous-evalue-ses-recettes-sur-le-mobile-d-au-moins-400-milliards-en-3-ans
- 156. Sonatel. (2016). Précisions de Sonatel sur des accusations de fausses déclarations comptables. Website. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http:// www.sonatel.sn/precisions-de-sonatel-sur-des-accusations-defausses-declarations-comptables/
- 157. Dakar BUZZ. (2016). "Accusée de fausses déclarations comptables: Sonatel a déposé la plainte contre...". Published 28 February 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://dakarbuzz.net/accusee-de-fausses-declarations-comptables-sonatel-a-depose-la-plainte-contre/
- 158. Ramboll Management Consulting and Corit Advisory. (2016). Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators. Commissioned by the European Commission. Working Paper no 61, 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/ documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_papers/taxation_ paper_61.pdf
- 159. Cortés Saenz. Op cit
- 160. Eurodad. Op cit.
- 161. PwC. (2016). Senegal. Corporate Tax credits and incentives. Website, last reviewed 30 August 2016. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http:// taxsummaries.pwc.com/uk/taxsummaries/wwts.nsf/ID/Senegal-Corporate-Tax-credits-and-incentives
- 162. ActionAid. (2015). The West African Giveaway: Use & Abuse of Corporate Tax Incentives in ECOWAS. Published July 2015. Accessed on 3 October 2016: http://www.actionaid.org/sites/files/actionaid/the_west_african_ giveaway_2.pdf
- 163. EY. (2015). Worldwide Transfer Pricing Reference Guide 2015–16. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.ey.be/Publication/vwLUAssets/ EY-Worldwide-transfer-pricing-reference-guide-2015-16/\$FILE/EY_ Worldwide_Transfer_Pricing_Reference_Guide_2015-16.pdf
- 164. The main acronyms mentioned in this Figure are included in the List of Acronyms on page 3.
- 165. The main acronyms mentioned in this Figure are included in the List of Acronyms on page 3.
- 166. Piketty, Thomas. (2014). Capital in the Twenty-First Century. Paris. Éditions du Seuil.
- 167. Weyzig, Francis. (2013). Evaluation Issues in Financing for Development Analysing effects of Dutch corporate tax policy on developing countries. Commissioned by the Policy and Operations Evaluation Department (IOB) of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands. Published November 2013. Accessed 3 October 2016: file:///C:/Users/TMR//Downloads/iobstudy-evaluation-issues-in-financing-for-development%20(2).pdf
- 168. McNair, David. Dottey, Rebecca and Cobham, Alex. (2010). Transfer Pricing, and the Taxing Rights of Developing Countries. Tax Justice Network Africa Research Conference. Nairobi. Christian Aid. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.christianaid.org.uk/images/CA_OP_Taxing_Rights.pdf

- 169. OECD. (2005/2008). The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness and the Accra Agenda for Action. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/ dac/effectiveness/34428351.pdf
- 170. OECD Tax and Development Programme. (2015). Tax Inspectors Without Borders Toolkit. OECD. Paris, 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-global/tax-inspectors-without-borders-toolkit.pdf
- 171. Press release from the Addis Tax Initiative. (2015). Better tax systems crucial for development. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www. addistaxinitiative.net/documents/Addis-Tax-Initiative_Press-Release.pdf
- 172. Addis Tax Initiative. (No date). About the Addis Tax Initiative. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.addistaxinitiative.net
- 173. Independent Commission for Aid Impact. (2016). UK aid's contribution to tackling tax avoidance and evasion. Published 27 September 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://icai.independent.gov.uk/html-report/uk-aids-contribution-to-tackling-tax-avoidance-and-evasion/
- 174. Eurodad. (2015). 50 Shades of Tax Dodging The EU's role in supporting an unjust global tax system. Launched November 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/files/pdf/1546494-fifty-shades-of-tax-dodging-the-eu-s-role-in-supporting-an-unjust-global-tax-system.pdf
- 175. Eurodad. (2015). 50 Shades of Tax Dodging The EU's role in supporting an unjust global tax system. Launched November 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/files/pdf/1546494-fifty-shades-of-tax-dodging-the-eu-s-role-in-supporting-an-unjust-global-tax-system.pdf
- 176. The Guardian. (2016). 'Google tax deal under fire as it emerges figure included share options scheme'. Published 4 February 2016. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2016/feb/04/google-uk-tax-deal-share-options-scheme
- 177. Rangaprasad, Pooja. (2015). Should a problem for everyone be solved by the few? Financial Transparency Coalition. Blog, published 2 December 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: https://financialtransparency.org/should-a-problem-for-everyone-be-solved-by-the-few/
- 178. OECD. (2014). Setting Global Standards: The OECD, the G20 and the International Tax Agenda, Forum for New Diplomacy. Keynote speech by Angel Gurria, OECD Secretary General. 6 November 2014, Paris, France. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/tax/settingglobalstandardstheoecdtheg20andtheinternationaltaxagendaforumfornewdiplomacy.htm
- 179. The OECD's process on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting is an example of a process where more than 100 developing countries were excluded from the negotiations (for an overview of which countries were involved, see Eurodad. (2015). An assessment of the OECD/G20 BEPS outcomes: Failing to reach its objectives. 2 October 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.eurodad.org/BEPSfacts. Another example is the OECD/G20 process on exchange of information (a description of the process can be found here: Markus Meinzer. (2012). The Creeping Futility of the Global Forum's Peer Reviews. Tax Justice Network. March 2012. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/GlobalForum2012-TJN-Briefing.pdf)
- 180. See for example: Government of the United States. (2015). Statement to ECOSOC Special Meeting on International Cooperation in Tax Matters. Published 22 April 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/2015esm-usa.pdf and Government of Japan. (2015). Statement by Mr. Takeshi Osuga, Ambassador, Deputy Director-General for International Cooperation and Global Issues. Published 13 April 2015. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2015/05/Japan_general_specific_20APR2015.pdf
- 181. ActionAid. (2014). The BEPS process: Failing to deliver for developing countries. 16 September, 2014. Accessed 3 October 2016: https:// www.actionaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/aauk_report_-_ bepsuk_16th_sept_2014.pdf
- 182. OECD. (2016). 'List of OECD Member countries Ratification of the Convention on the OECD'. Website. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/about/membersandpartners/list-oecd-member-countries.htm
- 183. OECD. (1960). 'Convention on the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development'. Paris, 14 December 1960. Accessed 3 October 2016: http://www.oecd.org/general/conventionontheorganisationforeconomic co-operationanddevelopment.htm
- 184. Bilateral communication, January 2015.

Eurodad

The European Network on Debt and Development (Eurodad) is a network of 47 civil society organisations (CSOs) from 20 European countries, which works for transformative yet specific changes to global and European policies, institutions, rules and structures to ensure a democratically controlled, environmentally sustainable financial and economic system that works to eradicate poverty and ensure human rights for all.

www.eurodad.org



Contact

Eurodad Rue d'Edimbourg 18-26 1050 Brussels Belgium

Tel: +32 (0) 2 894 4640

www.eurodad.org

facebook.com/Eurodad twitter.com/eurodad